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Friday, October 29, 2010

--- Upon commencing at 9:12 a.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Good morning.  Are there any preliminary matters before we swear the panel in?


MR. SMITH:  No, they are not.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I would introduce you to Mr. Andrew Barrett and Mr. Ralph Luciani to be sworn.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 10B

Andrew Barrett, Sworn


Ralph Luciani, Sworn

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Barrett, why don't we start with you?  I understand that you are the vice president, regulatory affairs and corporate strategy?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And in that capacity, you are responsible for, among other things, directing OPG's regulatory strategy?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMITH:  And for directing the company's interactions with economic regulators and reliability organizations in Canada and the United States?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's true.


MR. SMITH:  And that includes, of course, this Board?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission in the United States, among others?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of applied science and civil engineering from the University of Waterloo?


MR. BARRETT:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  As well as an MBA in finance and accounting from McMaster University?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been employed by Ontario Power Generation or Ontario Hydro since 1998?


MR. BARRETT:  I have.


MR. SMITH:  And in your current position as vice president, regulatory affairs and corporate strategy, since 2004?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMITH:  And for some period of time in the '90s, you were employed by the Ontario Energy Board as the manager of applications and financial monitoring?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And were you responsible for or did you assist in the preparation of OPG's evidence in relation to construction work in progress?


MR. BARRETT:  I did.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. BARRETT:  I do adopt it.


MR. SMITH:  And, similarly, were you responsible or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?


MR. BARRETT:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. BARRETT:  I do adopt it.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Luciani, I understand that you are the vice president or a vice president with Charles River Associates?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And members of the Board, you should have a copy of Mr. Luciani's CV, which was at L-2, schedule 6 for reference.


And you are a consultant, sir, with Charles River Associates?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I am.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Charles River Associates since 2001?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And, as I understand it, your consultancy practice focuses primarily on energy regulatory matters?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, it does.


MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you worked for PHB Hagler Bailly, which is also a consultancy?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  And did your practice similarly focus on energy regulatory matters?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, it did.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a master's in industrial administration from Carnegie Mellon University?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have an electrical engineering degree, as well as an economics degree, from Carnegie Mellon University, as well?


MR. LUCIANI:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  As I understand it from your CV, you have over 20 years of experience analyzing economic and financial issues affecting regulated industries?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that includes in respect of electricity rate making, as well as construction work in progress?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, it does.


MR. SMITH:  And you have testified, as I understand it, before regulators in Canada and in the United States; is that correct?


MR. LUCIANI:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And as I understand from your CV, that testimony includes testimony before boards in -- various state boards, including Arkansas, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, Missouri, Ohio and Pennsylvania?


MR. LUCIANI:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  You have tendered evidence before this Board?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I have.


MR. SMITH:  As well as before the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have testified in U.S. bankruptcy proceedings, as well?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  As well as before the U.S. Postal Rate Commission; is that correct?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, you have filed written evidence or given direct testimony to regulatory commissions approximately 30 times?


MR. LUCIANI:  Approximately 30, yes.


MR. SMITH:  And have you ever failed to be qualified as an expert to provide testimony to those various boards?


MR. LUCIANI:  No.


MR. SMITH:  Now, I understand that you prepared a report, which can be found at Exhibit D4, tab 1, schedule 1?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And before we go to that, looking at your CV, sir, I understand your CV summarizes a number of recent projects that you have been involved in.  And just looking at page 2, there is a reference at the top to nuclear power.  Can you tell me a bit more about that project?


MR. LUCIANI:  Sure.  On behalf of Duke Power, which is planning the construction of a new nuclear facility, I worked with them to develop the financial models that would be used to apply for DOE financing or supported financing of the new nuclear facility.


I built the model that dealt with the regulatory processes for Duke Power in North and South Carolina, including CWIP in rate base, for the facility.  I worked with Standard & Poor's, who was also involved in the project on behalf of Duke to rate the -- rate the proposal that Duke was putting in for credit quality.


MR. SMITH:  And the testimony that you have given before the various boards, as I understand it, you have consulted both on behalf of utilities, as well as customer groups; is that correct?


MR. LUCIANI:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have recently been retained by FERC to provide advice; is that correct?


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  We just completed a study on behalf of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission dealing with the Entergy region joining the Southwest Power Pool dealing.  We were retained as an independent consultant by the FERC.


MR. SMITH:  Just again returning to D4, tab 1, schedule 1, how did the issues addressed in that report relate to your expertise?


MR. LUCIANI:  The issues in the report deal with CWIP proposals and CWIP treatment in the United States, and I have been dealing with regulatory matters and ratemaking and revenue requirement matters in the United States for more than 20 years.


And it reflects my understanding of the lay of the land in the United States on this particular matter, and recent trends in the CWIP in rate base area.


MR. SMITH:  And, sir, if I can ask you, how have you been, or have you been, compensated and, if so, how, in respect of the report and appearing before this Board today?


MR. LUCIANI:  It is on a standard time and materials basis.


MR. SMITH:  And is your compensation at all dependent on the outcome of this case?


MR. LUCIANI:  It is not.


MR. SMITH:  And other than the preparation of the report at tab 1, schedule -- D4, tab 1, schedule 1 and appearing today, what consulting or other activities have you undertaken on behalf of OPG?


MR. LUCIANI:  None.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I would tender Mr. Luciani as an expert in electric utility regulation in the United States, including the treatment of CWIP.


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I have some concerns and would like the opportunity to ask a few questions on the question of Mr. Luciani's independence as an expert opinion giver.


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Go ahead.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Mr. Luciani, I would ask you and the panel to turn up Exhibit L-4, schedule 5, attachment 1.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Can you tell us what issue number that exhibit is under?


MR. POCH:  I assume it is under the CWIP issue, which would be 2.2.  The reference is L-4, schedule 5, and then we will turn to attachment 1.


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I have it.


MR. POCH:  And actually, just looking at the cover interrogatory, Mr. Luciani, the response describes the attachment as your engagement letter for the provision of regulatory support for 2009, 2010, 2011 and --


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  For Charles River Associates, yes.

MR. POCH:  And did you draft this letter to Mr. Anderson?

MR. LUCIANI:  No.

MR. POCH:  Someone in your organization did, or --


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  Mr. Adamson.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Prior to the drafting of this letter of engagement, had research been done on the particular situation that OPG finds itself in, as opposed to -- obviously, you have indicated you have had obviously some involvement with the CWIP issues in the states already.

But was any work done looking into the particulars of the OPG situation?

MR. LUCIANI:  Are you talking about from CRA's perspective?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. LUCIANI:  Not to my knowledge.  I had not done any.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, Mr. Poch -- sorry, if I could be of assistance, CRA has done prior regulatory work for us, but not in respect of CWIP.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And the letter of engagement -- and I will bring certain portions of it to the Board's attention in a moment, presumably -- it talks about the approach that you will take, first step to develop a -- expert report supporting OPG's position, and providing illustrations.

Did that white paper get produced, or did you go directly to producing the evidence in this case?

MR. LUCIANI:  In the 2008 time frame, I began my research into the CWIP treatment in the United States, the specific research that ended up in this report here in evidence today.

And so there was a -- an earlier version of this report that was created in the 2008-2009 time frame.

MR. POCH:  Well, in fact under number 1, it says:

"OPG has selected CRA to create a white paper that outlines the case for inclusion of CWIP."

Would that earlier work be in support of that request from OPG?

MR. LUCIANI:  I don't know specifically how OPG was planning to use my research, other than to perhaps provide it to various stakeholders in the Ontario region.

MR. POCH:  Right.  It refers to that possibility under 2, the "Development of alliances," where it says:

"OPG must seek out potential allies who share its position.  At the conclusion of the white paper creation, OPG in conjunction with CRA may choose to socialize the paper with various stakeholders in Ontario to gather support for the proposed approach."

In the following paragraph:

"CRA's involvement will be, on an as-needed basis, to defend the white paper and bolster support for the general recommendation."

Were you involved in such a process?  Or was your firm?

MR. LUCIANI:  Neither me nor my firm.

MR. POCH:  So this was a step that was ultimately not pursued?  Is that my understanding?  Is that --


MR. BARRETT:  If I can be of assistance, Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  The genesis of this work really was OPG looking at and seeing developments in the United States around the CWIP issue, particularly in respect of various nuclear projects, nuclear refurbishments and new nuclear projects.

And we saw a lot of merit in some of those developments.  So we asked CRA to do a research paper, to summarize those developments and some of the thinking that underpinned those developments, that we could use to talk to people in Ontario and see if we could build support for that, those kinds of developments in Ontario.

MR. POCH:  I see.

MR. BARRETT:  So the work in terms of item 2 was undertaken by OPG's staff, and not CRA staff.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And obviously part 3 is where we're at today?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of the questions I have.

Madam Chair, I do wish to raise a concern with respect to the independence of this witness.  Specifically, I
can -- I will direct you to some case law.  I don't know how we want to proceed on this.  Perhaps if anybody else has any questions first?

The concern I have is –-

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just before my friend continues, ordinarily I would have a right of re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's see -- does anybody else have any questions?

MR. WARREN:  I have just one question.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Luciani, other than the distinction that Mr. Barrett brought to your attention about the work that OPG staff did, does the letter, which is the exhibit that Mr. Poch refers to, does it accurately reflect the terms of CRA's engagement on this project?

MR. LUCIANI:  It certainly reflects the terms and conditions of our engagement.

The actual work that was done was an evolving process, so that the mention of this alliance work, of course, CRA did not do it all.

MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that.  But other than the alliance work, does the letter accurately reflect the terms and conditions on which CRA was retained for this brief?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  And effectively, we were retained, as noted on the last page, that CRA will offer independent, objective opinion and analysis.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Any other questions?  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  I have no re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  One moment, please.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Mr. Poch, if you want to make submissions?
Submissions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Madam Chair, I've provided my friends a couple of days ago, and the Board, with two case reports, which I would ask be provided to the Panel at this time.

There are extra copies, if anybody needs hard copies, here.

MR. MILLAR:  We have copies here, Madam Chair.  The first is R. and Inco and we will call that K13.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.1:  R. AND INCO DECISION.

MR. MILLAR:  And the second is United City Properties and Tong.  We will call that K13.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K13.2:  UNITED CITY PROPERTIES AND TONG DECISION.

MR. POCH:  Which will answer the question you might have been asking yourself about why my friend spent so long qualifying his expert.  He obviously anticipated this concern.

The concern I raise is not with respect to whether Mr. Luciani is familiar with CWIP and the extent of his familiarity with the topic.  Rather, it is with respect to the threshold question as to whether Mr. Luciani's evidence ought to be admitted at all, because of what I submit is a compromising of independence.

And if the Board is to entertain the evidence, whether it should do so subject to a subsequent weighing, in light of the Board's ultimate conclusion on that question of independence.  That is, if it is not rejected at the outset.

The two cases I provide you -- there are of course many cases available on this, but the two I have selected are relatively recent cases where the question of the independence of an expert witness has arisen, and I felt they were suitable, in that they canvass the state of the law of evidence in this matter in Canada.

I would like to take you, first, to the Inco decision.  K13.1.

This was the decision at the level of the Superior Court of Justice, and it is a 2006 decision.  The facts aren't particularly relevant for our discussion.  It was a prosecution of Inco under the Ontario Water Resources Act, and the question arose about the independence of expert evidence and the admissibility of that evidence, and that starts at page 9 of this case report, topic 8 in their listing there:  "Exclusion of expert evidence."

The particular facts are that the expert there was employed by the Crown, and the question was whether the nature of that employment compromised his independence in the particular case.

If you turn to page 10 of the report, at paragraph 42, there begins a discussion about the procedures courts use to evaluate the independence of an expert, and the second sentence, it begins:
"The inquiry requires that the trial judge, on a voir dire, look beyond the witness' employment relationship or retainer and consider the basis on which the opinion is proffered.  Unless the terms of the retainer make the witness an obvious 'co-venturer' with the party, as in the case where the witness worked on a contingency fee arrangement which was dependent on the outcome of the case, the trial judge must examine the actual opinion evidence to be offered in a voir dire.  The proposed expert's independence can be tested in the usual way, by cross-examination on his or her assumptions, research and completeness. The trial judge can then assess whether the expert has assumed the role of advocate."


Now, of course here, if we proceed to that step, we would not have a voir dire where we have excluded a jury, since you are both the judge and jury in this case, Madam Chair and Panel.

The case then goes on to canvass some of the law, and I would draw your attention to paragraph 46 on page 11, where here the Court of Appeal refers to:
"The trial judge indicated that he was guided by the remarks of E. MacDonald J. in Fellowes, McNeil v. Kansa General International Insurance Company Ltd. et al. ...  However, there is an important factual distinction between these two cases.  In Fellowes, McNeil, the court found that the proposed expert had earlier been an advocate for the Kansa against Fellowes, McNeil. E. MacDonald J. set out the prior role played by the proposed expert.  She found that he 'has been an advocate for Kansa's positions since he became involved in the matter...'"


So here, in discussing even the procedure, whether you embark on a voir dire and get into an analysis of the evidence and whether it appears on its face to be credible and independent, the cases have made a distinction between the situation where that witness has put himself in the position of an advocate in the past.  So that is even an earlier step, which is the step we find ourselves in here today.

If you would turn to page 12 at paragraph 49, in discussing the matter, part way into paragraph 49:
"A finding of lack of independence or impartiality cannot be based on a cursory examination of the employment relationship or status."


In the case at hand there, the fact that Mr. Mak was employed by the prosecutor wasn't in itself determinative.

Then the court goes on:
"Unless the court is satisfied that the witness is in a co-venture with the party, is currently in a position as an advocate for the party or has acted as advocate for the party on the same matter..."

And I stress that phrase:
"...the court must test any perceived partiality through a voir dire hearing..."

And it goes on.

So, again, saying that even before you get into any kind of a weighing, if that's the situation, that the party has acted as an advocate on the same matter, then you don't even need to go to that step.

Now, the other case I've placed before you gives a more extensive examination of the history of this evidence, this particular area of evidence, law in Canada.  I won't take you through it all.  This is the decision in the United City Properties and Tong, and the part that is relevant to our discussion today begins at page 9 under the heading "Impartiality and Expert Evidence".

I will just highlight a few of the paragraphs for you which I think might give you a taste of what the considerations there are.  Here, again, there is a discussion of what process the court itself should follow in weighing this.  At paragraph 37 on page 10:
"Canadian trial courts have taken different positions on the issue of whether an expert witness's impartiality will disqualify him or her from giving evidence at trial.  Some courts generally decline to exclude expert opinions on the basis that bias only affects the weight to be given to the evidence.  Other courts have held that bias is presumed to inure to certain relationships, and when that is the case the evidence is inadmissible.  Still other courts have favoured a factual inquiry into whether bias does, in fact, exist, and if so, whether it is of such a degree as to outweigh its probative value.  In my view, the second and third approaches described are consistent with each other and are supported by statements from the Supreme Court of Canada as well as the rationale underlying the exception which allows expert opinion."

And over a leaf on page 11, there is a discussion of the Fellowes and Kansa case, which the previous decision had mentioned.  And there, the proposed witness had, in fact, acted for the insurance company in a related way earlier.  And it notes:
"The court granted the application to disqualify this expert, holding...that the expert having been hired as 'an advocate for Kansa's positions since he became involved in the matter', he did not meet the 'minimum requirement of independence.'"


And it notes it was varied on appeal, but on the basis of other matters.  And, further, the decision goes on to canvass the earlier jurisprudence, and one of the early cases, English cases, the Ikarian Reefer case, is discussed at paragraph 42.

And the gist of it is:
"An expert witness should provide independent assistance to the Court by way of objective unbiased opinion in relation to matters within [their] expertise...  An expert witness in the High Court should never assume the role of an advocate."


At page 15, the bottom of page 15, the -- this is a BC Supreme Court decision, and it refers to the decision I took you to earlier, the Inco decision, at paragraph 53 there.  And notice that that decision offers clarity on this issue, and at page -- the following page at paragraph 54 cites the paragraph I took you to, paragraph 49, in the Inco decision, which refers to the -- which, again, mentions that unless the witness has been in the position as an advocate for the party, you would go into a voir dire.

So consistently the courts have held this notion that there is a very bright line at the outset if someone's been an advocate, puts them themselves into the position of being an advocate.  You don't even get to the weighing.  If that doesn't arise or if there is some uncertainty about that, you could then go to the second step of getting into a weighing, which in this case you would do in the ordinary course to determine what weight to be placed in the evidence.

At page 17, paragraph 58, the case of R v. J.-L.J., a Supreme Court of Canada case, is referred to there, in which the Supreme Court of Canada looks at the Mohan decision, the leading decision on courts dealing with such things, and talks about the gatekeeper role that the court should play.  The -- excuse me.

The court here, BC court here, goes on in paragraph 60 to talk about the various precedents -- Klassen being one and Mohan being the other -- and notes in paragraph 60 that:

"The Supreme Court of Canada has taken a more restrictive approach, more protective of the need to exclude suspect evidence."

It goes on at the bottom of page 18 to talk about some of the policy reasons why the courts and, I would argue, the tribunals need to be careful here.

Obviously, in the case of a jury trial there is further complication of -- that you don't face here.

But they do note, for example, that it is obviously the question of whether the evidence will be of assistance, and it may be worse to introduce it then having no assistance, and that is something that needs to be looked at in the circumstances.

But also talking about the long-term effects of letting such evidence in or not, and the -- in a sense, the general deterrence value that the courts want to be careful to insist that experts be independent and make an effort to be independent and be seen to be independent, and that is the -- the situation that we are concerned with here.

So just briefly, then, going back to the letter of engagement, attachment 1 to L-4, schedule 5, we have a situation where certainly Mr. Luciani's firm -- and I take it that he didn't object to this arrangement, and as my friend's questions pointed out, apart from the section 2 of this letter of engagement, this does represent the basis of his engagement.

We have a situation where CRA has been prepared without -- as was indicated in the cross-examination -- without having looked into the specifics of OPG's case for CWIP.  It was right away presumed to be engaged to develop third party expert report, quote, "supporting OPG's position," outlining a case for the inclusion of CWIP.

Now, we understand from this morning that they didn't -- ultimately, were not engaged in the actual effort to go out and develop alliances with stakeholders, build support for OPG's position.  But the fact that the firm was prepared to undertake that role at that stage -- which is outlined in sub (2) -- in fact, was offering advice to OPG that they must seek out potential allies who share its position, and prepare to bolster support for the recommendation, that they were prepared to do that.  To go on record unabashedly saying they were prepared to do that is rather striking, and whether or not they actually were called upon to do that is, in a sense, irrelevant.

The fact that they were -- they were in that position, prepared to be in that position, suggests that this firm is not suitably careful about maintaining its independence, at least in this particular case.

And the Board should be most cautious with this evidence.

So in summary, I would suggest -- I would urge the Board not to allow this evidence in as expert evidence.  It does not meet the test of independence as set out by the courts.  It doesn't even meet -- it doesn't meet the threshold test, let alone whether it would meet the test on weighing.

If the Board does not choose that route, then certainly in a subsequent weighing, I would urge the Board to be extremely cautious as to what weight to be given to such a report.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Poch, you referred to the -- at some point, to the position of the courts and then you said:  "and I suggest tribunals."

I would like to follow up on that point.  Is there anything in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act which, one way or the other, would affect the admissibility of this evidence?

I know the question of weight is always a matter to be dealt with later.  If we hear the evidence, the question of how much weight to give to it is another issue.

But I don't happen to have a copy of the Statutory Powers Procedures Act in front of me, but I wondered if there was anything in there that might be of assistance to us one way or the other.

MR. POCH:  I am looking at my friends to see if anyone has one in hand and is more savvy on it than I am.

My understanding is that, of course, this tribunal follows the general rules of evidence.  They apply to these tribunals no less than to a court, although certainly tribunals are the master of their own rules.

And this is a situation where you are going to have to exercise judgment as to whether the independence has been lost, and that is really a factual question.

And so there is no question you have complete discretion on that, on that issue.

I see my friend may be able to assist here.

MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Ms. Spoel, if we could just take a moment and get the actual text of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act.  I think it would assist us, if my friend Mr. Millar says that the Rules of Practice are at hand.  So if we could get it.

Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  I think that would be helpful.

[Mr. Millar passes document to Mr. Warren

and Mr. Poch]

MS. SPOEL:  We have actually managed to pull it up on the computer, so we don't need to -- perhaps we don't need to pass out copies of it, but if you have any comments that would be useful...

MR. POCH:  I am going to pass this off to my friend.

MR. SMITH:  I will ask my friends to hand it down to me, but my recollection is that the SPPA says that you are not bound by the rules of evidence in the same way as the court.

MR. POCH:  I would refer the Panel to section 15 of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, which sets out the rules on evidence in this regard.  Obviously, it doesn't speak to the particular question of independence, but...

MS. SPOEL:  I guess you don't have anything helpful to add?

MR. POCH:  Well, other than the -- there is an analogy there, that they deal specifically with the question of admissibility of privileged material, and make note that nothing is any more admissible in this venue than it would be in a court, where that question arises.

Further, that where there is any Act that limits admissibility of evidence, it is no more admissible in the administrative law setting than in the courts.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Are there any other parties that wish to speak?
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  May I just briefly, Madam Chair?

As I am sure the Board members will be aware, the question of the independence of experts took on a very considerable urgency and was the subject of considerable public discussion as a result of the nefarious acts of the former Dr. Smith, who was the Coroner for the Province of Ontario and was the subject of Justice Goudge's inquiry.  And, as a result of Justice Goudge's inquiry, there has been a renewed focus on two things.

One is the critical importance of the independence of experts, and a renewed focus on the function not just of the courts, but of regulatory agencies, as gatekeepers.

If you look - and I would invite you to look - at the question of why this evidence is being tendered.  The evidence is being tendered in order to give it additional weight and to give it weight arising from its independence, that it speaks to something which OPG could not, of its own accord, do.

There is absolutely nothing, I say with respect, in Mr. Luciani's evidence that could not have been assembled by Mr. Barrett and his team; nothing.

What Mr. Luciani's pedigree attaches to the evidence is a bona fides that arises ostensibly from his having looked at this independent of the interests of OPG.  It is clear from the portions of the retainer letter that my friend, Mr. Poch, has brought to your attention, is that Mr. Luciani is not an independent expert.  He is dressed up as one.  He is really an advocate for a certain position.

And when he is an advocate, the Board should not, I say with respect, admit him as an expert.  That is the proper exercise of the Board's function.

Now, to go to Ms. Spoel's question, I think it is generally assumed from the text of the Statutory Powers Procedure Act that there is a reduced standard in regulatory proceedings, in administrative law proceedings.  I say, with respect, that in this case it is so clear that this man is an advocate and not an independent expert that this -- that even though lower standard applied by regulatory agencies should not be applied; that Mr. Luciani should not be admitted as an expert.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Shepherd?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just have two points.  The first is I guess we're a little more cynical about whether experts are actually independent, and normally when you are appearing before a court, the court has to be somewhat careful, do a voir dire, et cetera, to test independence.

In the case of a regulatory tribunal like this, you are specialized in your field and, as a result, you have a better sense of whether you are hearing biassed or independent information already.

And often you know the experts.  You have been on the other side, having hired experts just like these.  So you know the natural bias that comes with experts who always appear for the utilities, for example, or experts who always appear for the intervenors, and there is a certain amount of weight that -- weighing that goes on there just because you are specialized regulators.  That is perfectly normal, and the system adapts to that.

In this case, we're dealing with a more overt bias, and, at the most extreme, it would be:  You are only paid if we win.

And I think everybody in this room would agree, if it was you are only paid if you win, then that is not an expert.  They're not independent.

So the question is:  What if the retainer is, We are hiring you to support our position, which is what is the case here?  It is crystal clear from the retainer letter.  We are hiring you to support our position.

So is that far enough for you to say, No, you are obviously not independent.  You are hired to be an advocate, and, therefore, you are not adding any value to the process.

My own view is that that crosses the line, but I am not sure it is as bright a line as Mr. Poch suggests.

That leads to the second question, though, and that is you obviously can just take this analysis and use it to determine how much weight you give to Mr. Luciani's evidence.

The problem is that people appear before you in only two roles.  One is they have knowledge of the facts on which the disputes or the issues in this case are based.  Mr. Barrett, for example, is here in that category.  He's not here as an expert.  He is here because he has information to give you that he knows.

Mr. Luciani is not here in that capacity.  He has no direct knowledge of this case.  What he has is an expertise.  So the question is -- if his only value to you is as an expert, then you have to ask yourself, if his expertise is tainted by bias, then what good is -- and I don't mean this in a pejorative way, but what good is it to hear from him?  What value is he bringing to the process if you can't trust his independence as an expert, because he doesn't have anything further to give you?

Therefore, I agree with Mr. Poch.  It seems to me that Mr. Luciani is not an appropriate expert to be brought here.

And I should add one thing.  Mr. Barrett probably has at least as much expertise in regulatory matters as Mr. Luciani.  And the only difference between Mr. Barrett and Mr. Luciani is Mr. Barrett works for OPG.  Otherwise, he could give exactly the same evidence.  In fact, if he left OPG, he could be a consultant and tomorrow be at the FERC saying the same things that Mr. Luciani can.

So we can hear everything that Mr. Luciani would say from Mr. Barrett, and you would see the context in which it is being given to you.

Those are our submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, if I may -- Michael Millar.  I am not sure you want to hear from me.  I have some very brief comments, but I think it would make sense if I went before Mr. Smith.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Much of what I had intended to say has been covered.  I confess I haven't looked at this issue in detail in a number of years.

I have reviewed Mr. Poch's cases.  I don't doubt that is the current state of the law.  But to follow up on Ms. Spoel's point, I do note both the cases themselves are court cases, and, indeed, unless I am mistaken, all of the cases referenced therein are also court cases.  There don't appear to be any cases specifically relating to a tribunal in this context.

As I think we can all agree, looking at the SPPA and the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure, the rules of evidence are more forgiving for tribunals than they would be in a court setting.  But I do want to add that the rules of evidence exist for a reason, and we only part from them with good reason, would be my submission.

So subject to any questions, I think everything else I intended to say has been covered.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Smith.
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I would like to just start off just by reviewing, I think, a couple of points in the legal framework, and then getting into the evidence, because, ultimately, despite my friend's submissions, this matter has to be determined on the law and the evidence.  And, in my submission, the evidence gets my friends nowhere in support of their position.

So as a legal matter, just procedurally, my friend Mr. Poch is incorrect, in that we are in a voir dire now.  That is exactly what is happening here.  If my friend had wanted to move on the basis of the evidence itself and found it objectionable on the face, he could have done that, elected not to do it.  He decided to cross-examine and, in my submission - I will come to it - got nowhere on that point.  So we are in the voir dire.

With respect to the law, I agree with Mr. Millar, in that the SPPA does deal with this situation and that we are dealing with a relaxed standard.  I don't rely on that necessarily, however, in that I think even if this were a court proceeding, my friends would not meet the relevant standard for the exclusion of opinion evidence.

I say that, because if you look at what my friends -- the cases they've -- Mr. Poch brought to your attention and the considerations in that case, what is important for this tribunal to look at is the particular employment -- the particular expert who is testifying and his or her relationship to the evidence.

It's not a generic retainer letter, is not the standard, any more than in the Inco case the fact of employment was enough to disqualify the expert.  And I would observe that in both cases my friend put forward - and, in my submission, far more apparent situations - the evidence was admitted.

So in the Inco situation, you had a representative of the Crown who testified only for the Crown on a number of occasions.  I think it was 15 times.  And the court, on appeal, said that was not sufficient to exclude the evidence.  In fact, we needed to look at the evidence itself and the particular facts relating to this witness, and his or her partiality or independence.

The evidence was admitted.

In the BC case, what you had there were two architects, two architects who had been retained on behalf of the party to advance their position.  The suggestion was made that they were not independent.  Ultimately, the court's determination was to the contrary, and their evidence was admitted.

With respect to my friend's submission about the RJ and LJ case, he took you to paragraph 60 of the British Columbia case, but he didn't take you, first, to paragraph 58.  It is important to understand the context, and this bears on what my friend Mr. Warren said.

Mr. Warren raised the spectre of the infamous Dr. Smith.  Well, obviously we are not in that situation, but one thing that is worth bearing in mind is this situation is of most concern in criminal matters, when someone's life is in jeopardy.  We are obviously not in that situation.

And the concern that was articulated in the R. v. J.-L.J. case was with respect to junk science.  And that is the Mr. Smith example -- no relationship -- the Dr. Smith example.

[Laughter]

MR. SMITH:  Where they were talking about -- it's always the Smiths -- they were talking about the trial judge's gatekeeper function vis-à-vis experts in the context of novel scientific evidence.

What the Supreme Court of Canada was concerned there with were people with impressive credentials showing up, putting forward a view that was actually not supported by scientific literature and repeatable.  And the concern they articulate is:

"If trial judges begin admitting this, then they allow the experts proposing the novel science to use their role."

Nobody is suggesting that that is happening in this case.  And in my submission, there is absolutely no parallel.  In fact, the case doesn't help my friends at all.

What you need to do, in my submission, is look at the evidence.  No doubt, my friend was hoping on the retainer level to establish that there had been some sort of advocacy by Mr. Luciani on behalf of OPG.  That is not the evidence in this case.

He prepared a research report.  He has done no other work for OPG.  And he is here to testify in respect of that.

And while my friend's point to part of the letter in my submission, the most important part of the letter has been ignored.  It is the end of the letter, page 4, top paragraph:

"CRA will offer independent, objective opinions and analysis."

Nobody cross-examined Mr. Luciani and suggested that his opinion was other than independent or an objective analysis.

In my submission, if that is the position they want to take, they have to put it to him and allow him to respond to it.  Nobody did that.  And in my submission, there is no basis for the proposition that he is other than independent.

As I understand at least Mr. Poch's submission, that is the only basis for his objection.  He does not object to Mr. Luciani's qualifications otherwise to provide independent -- sorry, to provide assistance to this tribunal.

The evidence of Mr. Luciani, he is obviously qualified.  He has written a report.  He is not paid other than in a normal way to provide that report and to testify today, and he has done no other work.

And in my submission, his position is no different -- whatever the retainer says -- than anybody else who was called, and certainly no different than anybody who testifies, for example, on the numerous consultation processions that the Board undertakes and subsequently testifies in later proceedings.

If we were disqualifying people on the basis my friends suggest, you could never have a witness testify in the Board's cost of capital generic proceeding and subsequently at a utility rate proceeding.  That would be the effect of my friend's position.  And in my submission, that is obviously not the practice this Board has followed.

I would also say, with respect to independence, that the usual indicators of lack of independence are not present here, in that Mr. Luciani specifically indicated he has testified for utilities, customer groups, and for regulatory commissions, as well.  So he has covered the spectrum on that front.

With respect to Mr. Warren's submissions and Mr. Shepherd's submissions about the report and whether or not -- I suppose what they're saying is whether or not the report is necessary.  In my submission, again, their position needs to be founded on the basis of evidence.  And if they had wanted to put the proposition that there was nothing in Mr. Luciani's report or the testimony he is offering today, then they could have cross-examined him on that to establish it.

Mr. Shepherd baldly asserted that Mr. Barrett could just provide all of the same testimony.  He didn't ask any questions to that effect.  And if he wanted to make that submission, he needed to have asked questions to establish that.

In my submission, there is good reason why Mr. Poch didn't say it, because he plans on calling Mr. Chernick on Monday, who would be, presumably -- Mr. Shepherd's submissions would apply to him as well.  If I want to take that position, obviously I will have to ask questions to establish that.  You cannot just simply assert this person doesn't have expertise, exclude them without any evidentiary foundation.

So in my submission, there is no basis for my friends' motion to exclude Mr. Luciani, and he should be admitted.

And at the end of the day, this Board, having heard the evidence, will attach the weight that it feels is appropriate, as it does in every other situation.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Poch?
Further Submissions by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Just to say that I don't really understand my friend's point that you couldn't have a witness testify who -- as an expert who has previously testified in or participated in a consultation.

The fact that a prior proceeding was informal or formal is irrelevant.  You hear witnesses all the time who have testified in prior proceedings before you, or before other tribunals, and have taken a position.  That alone does not constitute bias.

You have heard the distinction my friend Mr. Shepherd made.  Yes, we do appreciate that experts tend to fall into camps.  They have theories, and obviously, parties select experts who come from a camp where they are not philosophically opposed to the goal of the intervenor, but that is very different than what we're talking about here.

MS. CHAPLIN:  How is it different?

MR. POCH:  The question is whether the expert is -- puts themselves, puts -- wears the mantle of advocate or is prepared to wear the mantle of advocate or not.  An expert, to be an independent expert, may have a view.  That view may be known in advance, but the point is the expert has a duty to you, to the decision-maker, to be objective, to acknowledge both sides of an issue.

And where an expert, as here, where the organization has said, before getting into the specifics of the facts at hand, says:  We're going to -- we will write a report to support your position, that, to me, is -- in that case is a complete prejudgment of the facts and issues at hand in the particular proceeding.  And the fact that the witness is also prepared to -- prepared to advocate amongst other parties is exactly the role that compromises that ability for an expert to maintain any independence and objectivity.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Should we be making any distinction between Mr. Luciani, who appears before us, and his specific role as an individual?  Because you seem to be drawing -- having us draw the conclusion from what is contained in a section of this letter, which was not signed by him and which he has also testified that he took no part in.

Your view is that that is not a distinction?

MR. POCH:  I don't believe it is, for two reasons.

First of all, he was explicitly asked by my friend whether or not this letter, apart from the second section, is reflective of his understanding of his retention, and he said yes.  So right away we have paragraph 1 is still applicable.

But secondly, in a small consulting firm or whatever size it may be, when the vice-president says:  Here's what we're prepared to do for you, and I am going to assign someone to do it, I don't think we should start then going behind that and enquiring into the -- it would be a very difficult exercise to parse distinctions.

I think the presumption arises, and it has not been rebutted.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Then with respect -- so setting aside section 2, the other part you are particularly drawing to our attention is the very first paragraph, I believe; is that correct?

MR. POCH:  Yes.  The fact that -- and I did question him on this -- that had their firm inquired into the specifics of the applicability of CWIP to OPG's situation before agreeing.  The indication was they had not done such work.

Yet they were, right at the outset, prepared to say they were prepared to write a report supporting, and --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Would that bear any relationship to the point I believe you made earlier, which is that certain experts are known to have a particular view?  If he was known -- if their firm was known to be supportive of CWIP, would that have been a factor?

MR. POCH:  He would have an obligation as an expert to say, I'll look at the facts.  You know, I may have a view that, in general, these things are good.

But you have to look at the facts in certain situations of a case before -- unless, you know, the position is that there can never be a case which CWIP isn't applicable.  I don't think you will find an expert that would go that far.

So I think there is quite a distinction to be made there.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So the fact that they are in advance committing to support a particular position?

MR. POCH:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  I'm sorry, did you have anything further?

MR. POCH:  No.  You know, I do say, although we've heard that they didn't go on to conduct this development of alliances, the fact that they were also prepared at that stage -- the organization was also prepared at that stage to put themselves in that role to bolster support, I think is extremely telling about what the attitude of this firm is to the work they do as experts, their understanding of that role, which is startling.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I apologize.  This is a terrible oversight on my part.  There is a portion of my argument which I forgot to raise and which Mr. Smith should have an opportunity to respond to.  I know it is late in this long process, but I wonder if I could briefly raise the point now, as it is germane to the issue of whether or not all -- if you are going to admit the expert report, whether you should admit all of it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, go ahead.
Further Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Briefly, Madam Chair, if I could ask you to turn up the report itself, sections 5 and 6 of the report.  Reduced to their essence, what Mr. Luciani does in paragraphs 5 and 6 are to apply the criteria in the Board's report, which I am going to crudely refer to as the CWIP report, because I don't remember its -- it the report of the Board on regulatory treatment of infrastructure.

What Mr. Luciani does in 5 and 6 is to apply those criteria to the Darlington refurbishment.  In other words, Mr. Luciani provides an opinion on the very issue that you have to decide.  And I think Mr. Smith and I would agree that any way you slice it, that is inappropriate for an expert to do.  That is not the expert's function, to usurp your role, in providing an opinion on that.

So if the Board is to accept Mr. Luciani as an expert and to admit this report, I would ask the Board to strike sections 5 and 6 of his report.  I apologize for not getting that to you earlier.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Mr. Warren.  You're saying because he reaches a conclusion and a recommendation, that that is -- in what way is that inappropriate?

MR. WARREN:  He is usurping your function.  It is your function, one of the many functions you have to fulfil in this case, to decide whether or not the criteria for the application of -- or the approval of CWIP to a particular project has been met in this case.

It is not the expert's function to usurp your role by giving an opinion on that very question.  It is the equivalent of an expert giving an opinion that a particular person charged with an offence is guilty of the offence.  That, an expert is not entitled to do.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's side aside the criminal analogies for a moment.  How can I distinguish that from, for example, Drs. Kryzanowski and Roberts, who make a recommendation as to what the capital structure is to be?

MR. WARREN:  Well, in this case, what this particular witness is purporting to do is to apply the criteria that are in this report.  That's the very issue that is before you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Mr. Smith.
Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Well, your question is apposite, in that it is no different from what Drs. Kryzanowski and Roberts did, and my friend is referring to an old doctrine of experts not being permitted to testify is the ultimate issue.

Firstly, I would say this is not the ultimate issue you need to decide.  But, in any event, it is actually no longer the law.  I don't have the benefit, because I didn't have my friend's submission in advance -- but I do know that the case that I referred to earlier, the R. v. J.-L.J. case, actually deals with this issue.

The court does deal with this proposition, and my recollection, at least, is that the court has found that over the years, that that requirement has been greatly relaxed and the ultimate -- the issue, ultimately the court went on to exclude it on the basis of the junk science.

But, in my submission, it is absolutely no different than the situation you regularly have before you.  Experts come and they provide a ready-made inference:  Here's the understanding with respect to CWIP.  Here's what I understand to be the Board's criteria.

And, indeed, it is the very testimony Mr. Poch intends to lead on Monday.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right, thank you.  We will break now for 30 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:19 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.
DECISION:

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board has its decision in the matter raised this morning by GEC.

GEC seeks to exclude the evidence of Mr. Luciani on the basis that he is not independent.  GEC relies on the CRA retainer letter as evidence that the witness is not independent.

The retainer letter does give the Board some concerns.

However, given that OPG was intending to propose CWIP treatment, it is not surprising that it would select a consultant which supports the inclusion of CWIP in rate base.

As a regulatory tribunal, the Board has significant latitude to admit evidence and determine the appropriate weighting.

The Board has decided to admit the report in its entirety and to hear the testimony of Mr. Luciani.  In particular, the Board wants to understand how CWIP is applied in other jurisdictions and the circumstances in which it is allowed.

We will take the retainer letter into account when weighing the evidence.

Subject to any questions, we can proceed.

MR. SMITH:  No questions.  I think I should formally go through the step of having the evidence adopted for the purposes of the proceeding and the interrogatories, so I will ask if I could just ask that question before he is tendered for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Luciani, the report at tab D-4 -- sorry, at D-4, tab 1, schedule 1, was that prepared by you, or under your supervision?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, it was.

MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of testifying today?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And similarly, interrogatories asked in respect of that report, were those prepared by you or under your supervision, the responses to interrogatories?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do you adopt those for the purposes of testifying here today?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

I have no questions in examination-in-chief, Madam Chair, so I will make the panel available for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

Mr. Stephenson?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

Madam Chair, I distributed by e-mail a couple of days ago two documents, and I've got some hard copies available here today.

I would like to ask the panel some questions about them, and maybe I can get them marked as exhibits.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.
MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The first one is a PWU table:
"Cost recovered from ratepayers under proposed CWIP, and current regulatory treatment."
We will call that -- Ms. Binette has already numbered them, so this will be K13.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K13.4:  SPREADHSEET ENTITLED "COST RECOVERED FROM RATEPAYERS UNDER PROPOSED CWIP, AND CURRENT REGULATORY TREATMENT."
MR. MILLAR:  And K13.3 will be a document entitled "Rating North American energy utilities: electricity, natural gas and pipelines."  Again, that is K13.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "RATING NORTH AMERICAN ENERGY UTILITIES: ELECTRICITY, NATURAL GAS AND PIPELINES."

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  Panel - I think actually this is for you, Mr. Barrett - if I can just take you to the spreadsheet document, K13.4, let me just tell you what this is and then I will ask you my question.

What we have done is taken the answer to an interrogatory which was provided by OPG.  It is to VECC Interrogatory No. 4.  It is L-14-4 on Issue 2.2.

You are familiar with that interrogatory response, are you?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I am.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And what you will see that we've done is just made one small modification to the answer that you have provided, which is to add, in each of the illustrative examples, a cumulative column, which we have called -- it is column 1A, and column 3A.

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, as well as 2A and 4A?

MR. STEPHENSON:  And 2A and 4A.  You're right.

And can I just ask you, subject to check, that the math -- we've done the math right?

MR. BARRETT:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then the second thing that we've done is on the second page of the document, is create a couple of smaller tables where we have divided up the 39-year period of recovery that you provided in your illustrative example, into three 13-year periods.

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I would just ask -- again, subject to check -- if we've done the math right.

MR. BARRETT:  Subject to check, it looks correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The next -- and I am not sure if this is for you, Mr. Barrett or not -- but if I can take you to the other document I provided, which is K13.3, a DBRS document.

Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Had you seen this document before we provided it to you?

MR. BARRETT:  No, sir.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it you know who DBRS is?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Do they rate OPG's debt issues?

MR. BARRETT:  They do, and there is a DBRS report that is filed in evidence.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  In any event, I take it you are familiar that this outfit from time to time issues reports like this?

MR. BARRETT:  I am.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And can I just take you to page 9 of the document to start?

And you will see what they're doing is they're describing their rating methodology; is that a fair comment, in terms of what the document is doing, generally speaking, in terms of electric, natural gas and pipeline utilities?  Fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you see starting at page 9, the heading is:  "Industry specific factors"?

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then towards the bottom, there is a section called "Primary factors"?  Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the first one they talk about is regulatory contractual.  And I am interested in the second one which is starting on page 10, which is under the heading:  "Capital spending."  Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if I can just take you -- direct you to -- actually, let me just take you to the first paragraph under that, where it indicates that:

"Energy utilities are capital-intensive businesses.  An energy utility might undertake large capital projects in order to either meet growing demand in a high-growth franchise area or to significantly refurbish aging assets.  This could potentially lead to cost overruns and weaker financial metrics, at least during the growth phase."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, sir.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that is a comment which is relevant to OPG's business; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In the next paragraph, the DBRS goes on to say:

"All things being equal, a large multi-year growth project would likely entail more execution risk and credit metric deterioration than a small project with a shorter construction period."

Stopping there, I take it that that is a fairly logical bit of analysis that you would agree with?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think it's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Carrying on:

"For larger multi-year projects, credit metric deterioration is largely attributable to the fact that while debt would typically be used (at least partially) to fund expenditures, cash earnings are generally not realized until the assets are placed in service."

Again, I take it that is, generally speaking, the current kind of regulatory treatment that OPG faces?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  It's a generalized concern, and it is a concern that the Board itself noted in its infrastructure report.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Carrying on, DBRS says:

"Therefore the existing asset base must produce the cash required to service the incremental debt associated with the new assets until those assets are placed in service."

Again, that's, I take it, the circumstances that would face OPG on the current regulatory treatment?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, unless we received CWIP.

MR. STEPHENSON:
"If construction-related interest expense is capitalized, this can understate an entity's interest expense on the income statement as the capitalized portion is removed to arrive at the net interest expense."


Let me stop there.  Again, let's assume for a moment that we're talking about circumstances where your CWIP proposal is not yet approved.  Is that an accurate statement vis-à-vis how your -- how OPG would reflect these expenses on its income statements -- in its financial statements, rather?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  Our proposal is to capitalize the Darlington refurb expenditures.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just stopping there, is the commentary expressed here -- are you familiar with this kind of analysis, this kind of commentary, amongst the people -- the credit rating community on this issue?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I've seen other reports that have talked about this issue, along similar lines.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And to the extent that your proposal is adopted - that is, the CWIP in rate base proposal is adopted - how, if at all, does it address the issues that are raised in that paragraph?

MR. BARRETT:  If it was adopted, it would provide additional funds for the company, and, therefore, you wouldn't have the same deterioration and credit metrics that is referenced in that paragraph during the period prior to the asset coming into service.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  And let me just deal with the potential impact on the credit rating issue, more generally, and the implications of either the acceptance of your proposal or the non-acceptance of your proposal.

Your proposal, obviously, at least for the purposes of this application, is focussed on the Darlington project costs, specific ones that you have identified, but it is in relation to Darlington; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, as we proposed it in this case, although I think in response to an interrogatory we reserved the ability to bring it forward in respect of other projects, if we thought those projects met the Board's criteria.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Let's assume that -- assuming that the Board approves your request, do you have -- what is your information or understanding regarding the effect of that approval with respect to OPG's credit rating on a go-forward basis relative to where it stands today?

Is it -- directionally, does it have the effect of making it better than it is today?  Is it making it the same as it is today, or is it not as good as it is today, shall we say?

MR. BARRETT:  It will certainly help.  If we don't get it and we'd proceed with this project, as is our plan, we expect some impact on our credit metrics.

And if I could just turn to -- I did pull out a little bit of an excerpt from the DBRS report that is in evidence, and I note that they express some concerns about some of our financial metrics, particularly looking forward.

This can be found at Exhibit A2, tab 3, schedule 1, and it is attachment 1.  I think the two places where it is useful to look is at page 7 and page 8 of that report.

So if you look at page 7, there is a section right at the top that talks about their outlook for OPG.  And in the second paragraph, they talk about the fact that:
"Interest expense is expected to increase in the medium term, given the debt financing required to fund the increased capital expenditures; therefore, coverage ratios will weaken slightly. Furthermore, should the nuclear refurbishments and nuclear new-build generating projects be approved, the Company will witness a substantial increase in interest expense as the projects are significant in size."


So you can see there they're echoing those same concerns.

And if you turn over the page to page 8, again there is a section that is marked "Outlook".  I won't read it all, but if you look at the second paragraph in that section, again they're talking about this credit metric issue, and at the end of that paragraph they say:
"As debt is added to fund capital expenditures, credit metrics would be expected to decline from current levels as assets do not generate earnings or cash flows until placed in service.  Once in service, metrics would be expected to improve."


So, again, I think there's the same kind of concerns that we saw in the generic document that they've expressed with reference to OPG's particular situation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I just want to address this issue about the relative outcomes; that is, if you get it and if you don't get it.

Is it fair to say that your concern is, vis-à-vis in the future, that, directionally, if you don't get what you are asking for, there is a risk that your metrics will be worse and therefore -- your credit metrics will be worse and that will flow through into decreased or worse ratings?  That is the risk?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, and higher interest costs as a consequence.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it -- do you have a view or have you formed a view regarding the situation, relative to your metrics, your present credit rating?  That is, you have indicated a risk that compared to if you do get what you were asking for versus you don't get what you are asking for.  If you do get what you are asking for, you will be better off from a credit perspective, but where does it stand relative to where you are today?  Do you have a view about that?

If you get what you are asking for, are you net better than you are today, about the same or worse?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  We would be better if we got CWIP relative to the alternative case.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That is not my question.  I got that answer.

You haven't got the project -- you are not doing the project today in any material way, and so you don't have these expenses today?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure I would agree with that.  We are proceeding with the Darlington refurbishment project.  We are committed to that project and we expect it to proceed, and we are spending money today in respect of that project.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Of course you are right about that.  I apologize.  I have asked the question poorly.

If we step back a period of time, whether it is -- to a point in time where you weren't spending money on this Darlington project, if that is in 2009 or 2008, and that's where I want to -- I want to get the comparison between a situation where -- does getting CWIP -- here is the bottom line of my question.

Does getting the CWIP protection in rate base, when you are doing the project, keep you the same as where you were at before you started the project?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that remains to be seen.  We haven't gotten -- we haven't gotten the decision from this Board first in terms of our proposal, and we haven't gotten the reaction from the rating community as to what they will decide based on that decision, the Darlington refurbishment project, and other things that are going on within the company.

It's our expectation that if we don't get CWIP, things will be worse.  We don't know how much worse.  And, again, that remains to be seen.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Just to be clear about that, things will be worse not only relative to the situation that would be in place if you got CWIP approval, but they would -- but your expectation is they will be worse even relative to where they stood say in 2009?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure I have enough information to agree with the second part of that.  I certainly agree with the first part of that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Pui, do you have any questions?

MR. PUI:  Yes, I do.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Pui:

MR. PUI:  My name is Stan Pui.  I represent the Society of Energy Professionals.

My question relates to -- I am just going to have some preamble here.  I just want to confirm that the Pickering continued operation essentially ends at 2020, removing approximately 3,000 megawatts of base load capacity from Ontario; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's our plan.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  Then for Darlington refurbishment, essentially, if it goes through, will place 3,600 megawatts of capacity with basically staggering -- stagger finally in-service dates up to 2020; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  The in-service dates go beyond 2020.

MR. PUI:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  I think the last unit, subject to check, comes back into service in 2024.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  Now, an earlier statement that was made that OPG -- in terms of the Darlington refurbishment represents the best alternatives, economic alternatives amongst all of the other alternatives for the ratepayer, and OPG would likely proceed with or without CWIP; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  I would say two things in response to that.

One, it is certainly our view that it is the best base load alternative available to the province.  And we see that the OPA agrees with that assessment, based on our LUEC calculation.

And we are going to proceed with the project, as we have indicated in response to an interrogatory, whether or not the CWIP proposal is approved or not.

MR. PUI:  Now, in terms of funding, like, funding for specifically Darlington refurbishment, are the other funding alternatives being -- have been examined to progress this project, other than CWIP?  Like, have you looked at that?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the evidence that was put in earlier is that we are assessing where the funding will come from, and we don't know at this point all of the sources.

MR. PUI:  Okay.  Now, in terms of -- just based on the public information that is available out there, now, Bruce Power refurbishment, is that a -- they're a private company, obviously, so they're essentially unregulated; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  They are unregulated, that's correct.

MR. PUI:  Also in the public record that the plan unregulated electricity capacity has been brought on-stream going forward.  Typically, in your opinion, is the minimum contract price above the market price?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.  I don't know if there are any generators, other than our own unregulated hydroelectric, that are delivering power into Ontario on the basis of the HOEP or the market price.  That's no indication, in any respect, of the cost of generation in this province.

Bruce Power has a contract for their output with the Ontario Power Authority.

MR. PUI:  Typically, for all of the other unregulated electricity capacity that is being brought on stream, are they typically, again, above the -- your minimum contract price, is that above the market price?

MR. BARRETT:  It is certainly above the market price now, based on my understanding of the public information.

MR. PUI:  All right.  So I am going to extrapolate a little bit about the impact of CWIP.

Now, if we initiate CWIP now, would it actually reduce the probability that the 3,600 megawatts of Darlington capacity becoming unregulated, thus further driving up the overall costs for the ratepayers?

What I'm saying is that one of the alternatives that potentially could occur is that the -- given the lifespan of Darlington at this point, it will end some time in the 2020, 2024, based on whichever dates you have.

After that, essentially, that's really new capacity that is going to be brought on-stream.  So if we don't fund it now, is your risk that that capacity will become unregulated, and thus as a result of that, further drive up in the long run the costs for the ratepayers?

MR. BARRETT:  I have no information that would suggest that that capacity would become unregulated.

The capacity is regulated pursuant to a government regulation, so the government would have to decide to change that regulation, and remove the Darlington facility from the list of prescribed assets.

But I have no indication that that is intended.

MR. PUI:  That ends my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Pui.

Mr. Poch, I believe you are next.  I think you switched spaces with Mr. Shepherd.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Did I understand your answer correctly, a minute ago, Mr. Barrett, that you don't yet know where the funding will come from for the Darlington refurbishment, assuming it proceeds?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. POCH:  I take it there are possibilities other than going to the market in the ordinary course?  There's a possibility of...

MR. BARRETT:  There would be a range of possibilities, and the most likely is that we would secure financing from the OEFC, as we have in respect of other projects.

MR. POCH:  That being the case, it is quite possible, is it not, that CWIP would not make any difference to the costs of that borrowing, to the real costs of that borrowing?

MR. BARRETT:  No, that's not correct.  Our evidence in the last case and in this case is that we get funding from the OEFC on the basis of market rates.  They want to make sure there is no subsidy in the provision of that debt.

So our credit metrics would impact the cost of that borrowing.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Now, the Panel, in allowing Mr. Luciani's evidence in, indicated it had a particular interest in learning about the treatment of CWIP in other jurisdictions.

Am I correct from the answer to L-2, schedule 6, answer (c) -- I am not sure you need to turn it up -- but that, Mr. Luciani, other than the specific cases you mention in your report, you have not examined the treatment of CWIP in other U.S. jurisdictions?

MR. LUCIANI:  As far as explicit testimony on CWIP issues, I have not.  I dealt with stranded cost recovery in the --


MR. POCH:  No, that is not my question, sir.

MR. LUCIANI:  Stranded cost has to do with CWIP and the transition of construction work-in-progress from a regulated rate base to a deregulated rate base.

So I am dealing with CWIP.  And of course, I dealt with the CWIP modelling as part of the DOE, potential DOE-supported financing of the Duke nuclear plant.

MR. POCH:  My question -- I think we're passing ships here -- my question was -- the answer there indicates you looked at some specific examples of CWIP decisions to inform your report, and the ones that are noted there.

I took that answer -- maybe we should turn it up -- to say that you had not looked at the rationale of regulators in those jurisdictions where -- the many jurisdictions where they rejected CWIP; is that correct?

MR. LUCIANI:  As an explicit looking at all of the states in dealing with the CWIP issue, I do not look at all of them.  I dealt mainly dealing with those with a large, new construction campaign.

MR. POCH:  Now, in the evidence -- in OPG's evidence and in your report, sir -- we find these headings and references to rate shock.

Would you agree that to understand the impact on the customers, the rate impact needs to be looked at in the context of other pressures on the bill, the consolidated bill that customers pay?

MR. LUCIANI:  Certainly, you would look at the entire bill and what portion of the bill this particular project might have on that bill, in determining whether there is rate shock.

MR. POCH:  Did you analyze that in this case for Darlington refurbishment?

MR. LUCIANI:  No, I did not look at the specifics of the Darlington refurbishment economics.

MR. POCH:  Now, Mr. Barrett, we asked for OPG's analysis of its projected payment requests and so on in our Interrogatory 7-7(c), and --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, what is the L number?

MR. POCH:  It's L7-7(c) and (d), I think were the relevant sections.  Again, I am not sure you need to turn it up, because your answer was that you felt the -- the OPG answer was that the numbers were uncertain and irrelevant.

I was just going to take that to the next step and ask you:  From that, I take it that you have not actually done an analysis of this potential rate shock effect?  You haven't even done an analysis of what your request will be specifically in that period; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Not in respect of possible future OPG payment amounts, but we have done it in other respects.

And just to deal with the first part, our view was it is very difficult to project out what the future payment amounts might be.  They're subject to a whole series of developments and, in particular, decisions that this Board would issue from time to time.

But if you look at -- as a first instance, if you look at L-14-4, attachment 1, this, to my mind, is actually the best exhibit for looking at the rate shock concern that we have mentioned in our evidence.

So if you look at that table, just as an example --


MR. POCH:  Can you just give me a minute to get there, actually?

MR. BARRETT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  That was a variant on the table that Mr. Stephenson produced.

MR. POCH:  Well, on my list of interrogatories by subject matter, it doesn't seem to appear in the 2.2 section, but hang on a second.  Oh, it is in the updated one.  All right, go ahead.  I have it.

MR. BARRETT:  Sure.  Thank you.  What we were attempting to do here in response to this question is calculate the revenue requirement impact based on the cash flows as we currently understand them.

So, for example, if you look at column 4, which is the current regulatory treatment using the $10 billion capital cost, which is the upper bound of the range that we've identified, you can see in year -- for the first nine years, there is no impact under the current methodology on the revenue requirement, but then in year 10, suddenly you have a $550 million addition to the revenue requirement.

And just to put that in context, the annual nuclear revenue requirement in this case is about $2.7 billion, so this is in the order of about 25 percent, or 20 to 25 percent of that amount.  As you can appreciate, that would just be one factor which would be causing rate pressure in that year.

So if you don't address this project through the provision of CWIP, that is a potential future that you could be looking at.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Just to compare, then, the impact in that year without the CWIP proposal would be the difference between lines 9 and 10 in column 3?  That would be the difference between 623 and 360; correct.

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  So there is still an impact, but it is about half the size of the impact that you see in the column 4.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And you have no indication of what that impact would be on the bottom line of bills for customers, I take it --


MR. BARRETT:  Well --


MR. POCH:  -- as a percent rate impact, for example?

MR. BARRETT:  -- we actually do.  If I can just turn you to our evidence?

MR. POCH:  You gave an illustrative -- are you thinking of the illustrative example you gave in --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. POCH:  That is D2-2-2.  I think it is at page 6.

MR. BARRETT:  I am just going to turn it up.  Yes, that's right.  So that is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, pages 6 and 7.  There we have an illustration of the effect of CWIP on smoothing rate impacts on a kind of a one-unit case, and then looking at, on the second graph, all four units.

MR. POCH:  Right.  First of all, let's be clear.  What this is is this is just the impact on your revenue requirement as opposed to total rates for the customers?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  It is actually neither of those things, and I do apologize, because when I was looking at this evidence again in preparation for today's testimony, I observed that it wasn't very clear what the basis of the percentage is.

MR. POCH:  Well, the graphs are actually labelled "Incremental Revenue Requirement".

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  But it is -- the percentages which are expressed in the text are actually with reference to the total cost of generation as we forecast it.

So if you look at lines 14 and 15 on page 6, you will see that the statement:
"...the rate shock associated with the traditional methodology of 2.5 per cent - 4.1 per cent at the in-service date is smoothed to an overall 2.0 per cent - 3.2 per cent rate increase spread over 10 years..."


So those percentages, the first one is with reference to the $6 billion case, the second is the $10 billion case, and those percentages are really on the basis of our estimate of the total cost of generation to Ontario customers.

MR. POCH:  And just in terms of the smoothing effect, it is really graph 2 that is the whole picture or the bigger picture, correct, because you --


MR. BARRETT:  It is a four-unit picture, yes.

MR. POCH:  You already have some smoothing by virtue of the staggering; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. POCH:  So it is -- in effect, what you are proposing is to achieve the difference between the dotted and the solid lines on that graph?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  The real benefit of the CWIP proposal is experienced in that first year, where you avoid having to go from zero to $550 million on the $10 billion case that we talked about earlier.

MR. POCH:  But, again, in the alternative, without CWIP, you aren't going from -- rather, with CWIP, you are not avoiding that 500-odd-million step.  You are avoiding just roughly half of it?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  It doesn't completely address the fact that rates are going up.  It just mitigates the shock or the size of the increase.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Now, Mr. Luciani, we asked for your analyses, any analysis you had, to support the statements you made in your evidence about CWIP's impact on credit rating and borrowing costs.

And in response to our L-7-1, -2 and -3, I think basically -- not to -- you basically -- we had a reiteration by OPG of what they understood the bottom line analysis to suggest, the directional impact.

MR. LUCIANI:  I'm sorry, what was the reference?

MR. POCH:  L-7-1, -2 and -3, where basically we have a restatement of the conclusions you achieve about the direction of the effect in each case.

MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry, we are still turning it up.

MR. POCH:  Sure.

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, I'm there.  Go ahead.

MR. POCH:  So I take it from that, sir, you didn't actually do any study of cash flow coverage ratios that OPG has experienced or will experience, or actual rating history of OPG and what they might expect.  Yours was just at a high level?

MR. LUCIANI:  As far as specifics dealing with OPG impacts of the Darlington project, and so on, no.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Barrett, can we agree that - you have just indicated to me that your concern is out at the point when you bring these units into service - that the -- I think it is $37 million -- approximately $39 million impact on revenue requirement this year from inclusion of CWIP, or not.

MR. BARRETT:  The test period impact is $37.9 or $38 million, if you want to use round numbers.

MR. POCH:  That is less a concern for you, in terms of the impact on these various factors, than the -- you are not worried about the rate shock of that, I take it.  You are worried about rate shock later on?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  It is the rate shock that comes when the first unit comes into service if you don't have CWIP.

MR. POCH:  Now, Mr. Luciani, you say in your evidence, at the first paragraph on page 11, that -- discussing other benefits, additional benefits -- under the heading "Additional Benefits", you suggested CWIP encourages more willingness to invest; correct?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Given that in this case OPG has said - and I think you heard it earlier today - that it won't affect its decision -- the availability of CWIP won't affect its decision to pursue the Darlington rebuild, will you agree that is not an active factor in this particular case?

MR. LUCIANI:  I wouldn't fully agree.  You have a potential impact on the credit rating of OPG, in the absence of CWIP inclusion in rates, that can drive up the cost to OPG.

So in that sense, I would certainly think there would be more reluctance to invest in any utility, certainly in the U.S., in such a situation.

MR. POCH:  Now, this brings us to your more general point that both you gentlemen made, that it can affect credit borrowing costs.

Mr. Luciani, you appreciate that in Ontario, OPG does not have a monopoly over generation?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, that is my understanding.

MR. POCH:  Right.  And so in determining the supply mix, which is a process we are just launching back into in Ontario, there is a choice that the government and its agencies will make, as between having OPG provide or continue to provide generation in whatever degree, and turning to market players.

Do you understand that?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. BARRETT:  If I could just add, it is the company's view that in respect of the Darlington refurbishment project, that the government has endorsed that project.

So there is no decision remaining in respect of that project.

MR. POCH:  I see.  We just -- so you're saying that the recent government commencement of a consultation period on its new supply mix directive, it's a foregone conclusion at this point that that is just -- it's not -- the option of not maintaining this nuclear capacity is just not on the agenda?

MR. BARRETT:  I think the government's clearly expressed policy is that it wants to maintain nuclear base load generation in the province.  I think at least at 50 percent of the generation.

They have also separately endorsed the Darlington refurbishment project.  So as our policy currently stands, I don't see any likelihood of a change.

I will acknowledge that there can be policy changes down the road.

MR. POCH:  You will acknowledge that the government is currently consulting on the very question of what policy direction it should give to OPG -- to OPA?  I'm sorry.

MR. BARRETT:  There is a supply mix process underway, yes, sir.

MR. POCH:  And that there is a consultation currently underway explicitly?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  I think that is the first phase of that process.

MR. POCH:  And the 50 percent term you just spoke to is the earlier supply mix directive, which will be presumably superseded by the new one?

MR. BARRETT:  The 50 percent is also reflective of statements that the government has made very recently.  So we –- certainly, OPG does not expect that policy to change.

MR. POCH:  I appreciate you don't, but -- all right.

Now, you have said it lowers borrowing costs, but can we understand where the money comes from with CWIP, as opposed to without?

Would you agree with that with CWIP, one of the effects is that you are funding this from ratepayers, rather than from the financial markets, to the extent that CWIP gives you a return between now and in-service?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that would be a source of funding.

MR. POCH:  Right.  So in effect, you are borrowing from ratepayers, if you will, for this future station?

MR. BARRETT:  Ratepayers are paying in advance of the unit going in-service, with a view to mitigating the future rate impact and reducing any impacts on our borrowing costs.

MR. POCH:  Now, would you agree that for, you know, an elderly ratepayer who has got -- carrying credit card debt, their marginal cost of capital is going to be likely to be higher than OPG's?

MR. BARRETT:  I expect that it is the case that certain customers, certain ratepayers in Ontario will have a higher cost of capital than the company.  And there may be --


MR. POCH:  Can we agree -- sorry.

MR. BARRETT:  There may be others that have a lower cost of capital than the company.

MR. POCH:  But can we agree in general the ratepayers that are most susceptible to rate increases are the ones most likely to have a higher cost of capital compared to OPG?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that's fair.

MR. POCH:  All right.

MR. LUCIANI:  I will add, I mean, all customers, industrial customers and so on, might be -- have a lower cost of capital, depending on what their certain circumstances are, and it can affect their businesses, as well.

I wouldn't say that a certain segment has a monopoly on the impact to themselves.

MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  There was argument last year about the wording in Regulation 53/05, section 6, about inclusion of costs that were -- emphasis on the word "were" -- prudently incurred.

So I want to discuss with you -- I think this is probably for you, Mr. Barrett -- about the question of prudence and when prudence gets assessed in the mechanics of your proposal.

MR. BARRETT:  Should I turn up the regulation?

MR. POCH:  I don't think it is necessary.  The question I –- I really want to get OPG's understanding of this CWIP proposal.

You are suggesting that you be given CWIP in rate base without any testing of prudence at this time?  Or with a presumption of prudence, or what?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly, the Board has to be satisfied that giving us CWIP is just and reasonable; that is the standard that they have for rate-setting.

We expect that there will be ongoing monitoring of the execution of the Darlington refurbishment project.  And we also expect that will potentially be periodic or retrospective prudence reviews of how we've executed it, how our actuals have come in relative to the budgets that we put forward.

MR. POCH:  So I am trying to understand what the just and reasonable test would be in the circumstances here.

Are you suggesting this Board in this case determine whether they believe the refurbishment of Darlington is likely to be a good idea?  What is the -- what are you asking this Board to do?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the approvals that we are seeking in this application are set out in -- I will get the tab, but they're in binder A.

MR. POCH:  Well, that's  -- where it indicates you're asking that the CWIP be put in rate base and you earn a return on it, I think -- Mr. Barrett is nodding, yeah.

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  If you look at the list of approvals, we are not specifically asking for approval of the Darlington refurbishment project.

MR. POCH:  But you are asking for approval for some of that project to be put into rate base?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.  If you go, actually, to D2, Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, and I know this has been –- this is on page 4 -- this has been turned up a couple of times.

So this is the evidence on the Darlington refurbishment project.

MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, this was D2, tab 2, schedule 2 or schedule --


MR. BARRETT:  Schedule 1.

MR. POCH:  Schedule 1.

MR. BARRETT:  So if you look at page 4, to be helpful, we have set out all of the approvals that we were seeking in respect of the Darlington refurbishment project.

So the first one there is approval of the test period O&M costs of 5.9 million and 4.5 million in the two years respectively.  That is related to the ongoing definition work.

We are asking for changes in rate base and return on rate base, depreciation expense, tax expense, and Bruce lease net revenues that result from the impacts of the service life extension for purposes of calculating depreciation, the consequent changes in nuclear liabilities.

The third bullet references the thing we're talking about now, which is the inclusion of the CWIP capital, or the capital in rate base for purposes of CWIP.

And then we are asking, under the fourth bullet, for the recovery of the difference in 2010 between the non-capital costs that were actually spent, versus the amounts that were budgeted, and that would be recovered through the capacity refurbishment account.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Let's focus on that third bullet point.

As indicated, you are asking for inclusion of the CWIP amounts in rate base.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. POCH:  And I take it it is almost trite to say that the test for including in rate base is it would be used and useful and found to have been a prudent investment.  That is the ordinary test.

MR. BARRETT:  That is the ordinary test.

I think that the Board, in their infrastructure report, like other regulators, have said that in certain circumstances you need to not have an absolute, strict adherence to the used and useful test, that there are other considerations that need to be brought into bear, such as rate shock, avoiding impacts on utility interest rates.

And that is one of the reasons why they decided to include CWIP in rate base as one of the options available to utilities.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Now, earlier in this case we've heard that OPG simply hasn't compared the Darlington refurbishment project to other non-OPG alternatives.  Do you recall that evidence, Mr. Barrett?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think that was our evidence, to be honest.  I think we looked at some base load alternatives.  I think we looked at base load gas as a comparison, and then we relied on the OPA to consider whether -- given our LUEC forecast, whether or not there were better base load alternatives available.  And my recollection of their letter was that they said that there weren't.

MR. POCH:  Well, all right.  So you haven't looked at that question.  You have just relied on the OPA saying, If it is 6 to 8 cents like you tell us, it sounds good?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I think we did look at base load gas alternative.

MR. POCH:  You looked at OPG-owned CCGT, I think is the acronym; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not sure if we distinguished whether it was OPG owned or owned by someone else.  I don't recall.

MR. POCH:  That's fine.  The record will speak for itself.

You don't have an analysis of competing options to present to this Board?  You haven't done that work?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  We are not in the business of system planning, and that is why we sought the opinion of the OPA in respect of that comparison.

MR. POCH:  And the OPA is not with us today, but the indication in the evidence was that their opinion was expressly based on the assumption that your assumption - your assumption - that your LUEC that you have given them is correct and remains to be correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  And I think that is fair to the OPA.

The burden should properly be on us to satisfy the Board that our LUEC range is correct and robust and sufficiently captures all the foreseeable and reasonable contingencies.

MR. POCH:  And this Board hasn't had an opportunity to review OPA's reasoning and what alternatives it considered; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly there was no interrogatories directed to the OPA and they were not called to appear.

MR. POCH:  Right.  So even your suggestion that this may be the preferable alternative is entirely -- is really untested in this case?

MR. BARRETT:  I can't agree with you there, sir.

MR. POCH:  All right.  If we were to assume that your -- well, let me leave that.  Hang on.

Would you agree that if this Board at some point finds that this project was not the better alternative for meeting Ontario's energy needs, that it would have -- it would be, to some degree, an imprudent project?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, I think the Board's well-established practice with respect to prudence is to consider what facts were known at the time the decisions were made, and you can't use hindsight to determine whether or not a prior decision was prudent or not.  I think the Board has been pretty consistent on that fact.

But if the project was to cease or stop for some reason - and certainly there is no expectation that that would be the case - then obviously we would be back here before the Board and have an obligation to discharge the prudence -- to meet the prudence test in order to recover any outstanding monies.

MR. POCH:  Well, in your evidence at D2, tab 2, schedule 2 on page 2, you reference page 15 of the Board report, and --


MR. BARRETT:  Should I turn up the report?

MR. POCH:  You can do that.  I could just read in the snippet, if you like.

MR. SMITH:  Which page of the evidence, sir, sorry?  D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page --


MR. POCH:  I have my note as D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 2.  Yes.  In fact, we can read it right out of your evidence.  We don't need to go to the report.

The penultimate paragraph on that page, line 21, talks about the OEB's report, speaks -- and you've got a quote there:
"...it would '...allow utilities to apply to include up to 100 percent of prudently incurred CWIP costs in rate base'..."


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think in that context, prudence is synonymous with reasonable, just and reasonable.  It is not used in the context of a prudence review, which I see as more of a retrospective enquiry.

MR. POCH:  Now, at page 3 under the heading "Proposed Regulatory Treatment", the same exhibit, D2, tab 2, schedule 2, you say that the -- line 10:
"...the risks of the project are similar to those noted by the OEB for green energy projects..."


And you talk about the kinds of risks.  I just wanted to discuss that with you for a minute.  Do you agree that you're in a very different position from a transmission utility, for example, Hydro One, who is being asked to build a line to serve a cluster of generators that it doesn't control, the projects of which it doesn't control, and it doesn't need to do that project to keep the lights on, keep its customers serviced?  It's at some risk, well beyond its control, to fulfil the goals of the Green Energy Act; build some wind clusters, for example.

Whereas in your situation, this is a project you are proposing, and it is really entirely within your control how it is going to come in and whether it is going to be competitive, and so on?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I would agree that the risks are different.  I don't think we're saying here that the risks are the same.  We're saying that there are some similar risks.  Certainly we talk about, in the project evidence, there is risk of project delays.  I think it is a given, any time you're talking about a nuclear project, there is going to be a degree of public controversy, so I think that is fair, and the recovery of costs.  We certainly have a regulatory risk there.

We expect that we will be able to demonstrate that we have prudently managed the execution of this project, but it is also possible that the Board might see some of our activities in a different way, and, therefore, we might not be able to recover some of our costs.

We don't expect that, but certainly that is a risk.

MR. POCH:  Well, first of all, can we agree that this proposal here has nothing to do with the Green Energy Act?  This is not a Green Energy Act infrastructure that we're talking about, Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  Now, let's go on to your point.  If CWIP is granted and there are project delays, for example, so the cost of the carrying costs go up, the carrying costs are the very costs you're asking be awarded to you in rates?

MR. BARRETT:  If the project was extended, then the carrying costs would in aggregate go up.

MR. POCH:  That is exactly what you are trying to get in current rates as opposed to leaving it to subsequent date for consideration?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  CWIP is the carrying cost on the capital.

MR. POCH:  So how will -- if there is a delay next year, if there is a delay that increases those costs, how will the Board control -- will you automatically apply just continue to have all of your carrying costs go through into CWIP, or how will we deal with that?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, what we proposed is that the capacity refurbishment variance account would deal with differences between the costs which are forecast and included in rates, and the costs that ultimately arise.

So if I could just explain that by way of an example, let's assume that we anticipate spending $100 million in capital over the test period and we only end up spending $90 million.  What would go into that account would be the $10 million of capital times the awarded cost of capital.  So that delta would go in that account.

Then in the next rate cycle, we would be back before the Board saying, We have this balance in the capacity refurbishment account that we're going to give back to ratepayers, because we didn't spend all of the capital that we had forecast to spend.

And I presume at that time there would be submissions about whether or not that was the right number, whether it should be a higher number or whether it should be a lower number, and who was responsible for the delta.

MR. POCH:  My question is slightly different.  Let's assume you forecast 100 million and you spend 100 million.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  But the project has been delayed.  You just haven't gotten as far along.  So we have had the same carrying costs charged to customers, and less --


MR. BARRETT:  So there would be --


MR. POCH:  -- less work in the ground.

MR. BARRETT:  So there would be zero balance in respect of the project in that account.

MR. POCH:  Let's assume there is no variance in what you have spent; just what's been received for value there for the money.

MR. BARRETT:  I think it would still be open to people to say that the zero balance was not the right balance, that there should be a credit balance which is different than zero.

And the Board would hear those arguments and make that determination.

MR. POCH:  Here's my problem.  Ms. McShane suggested, and you gentleman have suggested today -- and she said it quite explicitly on the record yesterday -- that CWIP gives greater assurance to investors about the likelihood of recovery.

Is that an illusion?  Are you in the exact same jeopardy, regulatory jeopardy, for the prudence of your decisions?  Or not?

MR. BARRETT:  I would say that the prudence test remains the same.  I think there are two issues there, as I understand the situation.

One is you get a decision next year or two years from now about the Board's view of how you are prudently managing the project.

Or you wait 10 years until you have spent a lot more money, and then you get a decision.

And I think the risks under those two scenarios would be different from somebody looking to make an investment.

Secondarily, if there are –- if you are not getting the cash flow that would come from CWIP, utilities' credit metrics are going to be impacted.  So there will be additional financial risk during that period, until the facility comes into service.

MR. POCH:  If you wanted to reduce your risk, you could ask for project approval in some fashion from this Board, and perhaps not in the normal course, obviously, but you could conceivably, just two years from now, four years from now, say:  We've gone this far.  We would like to, at this point, ask that monies be put into rate base, subject to whatever protections might be appropriate.

You don't actually have to start charging it to rates now, do you?

MR. BARRETT:  No, you don't.  But it is our view that given the significant amount of money and the significant rate impact that we see down the road, you want to start this as early as you can to smooth that ramping up of revenue requirements.

So if you wait two years, you have lost two years.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Madam Chair, those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

Mr. Shepherd?  Perhaps, actually, just before you go, I am going to do a time check.

Is my understanding correct, Mr. Smith, that we need this panel to complete today?  Is that -- or are they available on Monday?

MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Luciani is from out of town.  It would be preferable, but my understanding is he can be available on Monday if we carry over, and we will just, then, continue this panel and roll into our initially-scheduled panel 10A immediately thereafter.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is helpful.

All right.  Why don't you go ahead, Mr. Shepherd?  We will need to break today pretty close to 12:30, so if you could find a suitable point to break, that would be great.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I have a number of brief areas to cover.

Let me start with -- I wrote down what you said, Mr. Barrett, and this may be just that I am missing the nuances of what the company is saying, but you said earlier:  We are proceeding with the Darlington refurbishment project.

My understanding was that your board of directors has not approved this project yet, and that the Board, this Board, has not approved this project yet.  And so I am trying to get a sense of who is "we".


MR. BARRETT:  Let me try and deal with those in two parts.

In terms of the OEB, one of the gaps -- if I can use that word -- in the regulatory framework that governs OPG is that there is no parallel for a leave-to-construct application.

So it is not clear to me how we would come to the Board to seek approval of a project like this.

So you won't see that approval in our list of approvals.  What you will see is the consequent impacts of our decision to proceed.

For example, the change to the life of the station is founded in our very high confidence -- I think Mr. Reeve spoke of more than 90 percent confidence that the project will proceed as we plan it, and will have the life that we expect.

So that is the approvals that we're seeking in terms of this Board.

So in terms of OPG's board, we do have approval to proceed with the project.  The project has been designed to proceed in phases -- I think that is what you heard -- that there will be gates, that there will be milestones, there will be things that have to be achieved before you move from -- through one of those gates.

But we are committed to the project.  We are expecting it to proceed as we have laid out.  And we are proceeding with the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that is the nuance I was having some trouble with, and maybe I just misunderstood it, that I had understood the previous witnesses to say:  We have approval for the definition phase, and then we have to make a go, no-go decision in 2012, which is going to be the approval to actually build the thing.

And it sounds like what you are saying is sort of more like a negative option, which is you have approval to build this, unless something changes in the meantime; is that more correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Let me try and deal with that by parts.

Is your reference to 2012 confusing this project with a continued operations initiative?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. BARRETT:  Which has really a go, no-go decision, based on the results that are achieved by 2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am pretty sure I am not confused on that point.

MR. BARRETT:  Okay.  What the Board has approved in respect of this project is the timing of the project, the decision to proceed with the project, and the overall release strategy.

The next step in terms of proceeding with that project is to move into the definition phase, and there are subsequent gates.

Now, I think as you heard from our witnesses, if things go unexpectedly, or something, you know, doesn't go right with the project based on our certain plans, you can stop it at one of those gates.  It can either be delayed or stopped.

But based on all of the analysis and work that we have done, we expect the project to continue through the gates that we have set out for it.

But the final release, for example, of the execution funds won't happen until one of the subsequent gates.

Does that help?

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that gate is like a negative option.  If everything goes according to your current plan, then you know it is going to be approved.  Your Board has told you:  It is okay.  On this plan, if it is the way we expect, you are okay in 2012, or whenever it is.

MR. BARRETT:  That's consistent with the approval of the release strategy we have laid out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then let me come back to the first part of that question, and that -- or the first part of your answer, rather, which -- you talked about the government endorsing the project, and I didn't actually get a sense when I read the letters from the government that they were saying:  Yes, here's our approval.  Go ahead.  But rather they were saying things like:  Looks good to us.  Keep us informed.

But, you know, maybe we read it differently, but what I want to focus on is this.

I understand you to be saying that this Board has no role in approval of this project.  You do not need this Board's permission to proceed with this project.  Is that what you're saying?

MR. BARRETT:  I would say it slightly different.

I don't know how we get the Board's approval of the project.  What we're seeking is approval of things that flow from proceeding with the project.

Now, presumably, if the Board had a view that it was not reasonable to proceed with the project, then they would not approve the things that flow from that.

So for example, if they thought that it wasn't reasonable to proceed with the project, that those things that are set out -- let me just find a reference -- the things that are set out in chart 1 -- sorry, in chart 1 on Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, the Board would not incorporate those adjustments into the revenue requirement.  So they would essentially reverse those things if they took that view.

I am certainly not encouraging them to take that view, but that is up to the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to understand this from a regulatory construct point of view.

Normally -- and you have made the point that you don't have a leave-to-construct process in your legislative framework.

I take it that what you are saying, then, is that aside from your board of directors, there is no one who has to approve your going ahead with the project; is that right?

MR. SMITH:  Just one moment, Mr. Shepherd.

Obviously this ultimately engages a legal question.  I am fine with the questions proceeding on the understanding that Mr. Barrett is not being tendered as a lawyer to give advice on this point.  I am not going to object to the question, but certainly our ultimate position will be set out in argument.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a fair comment, and I am not asking you to give a legal opinion.  I am asking for OPG's current position on this.

MR. BARRETT:  The company -- for an initiative of this magnitude, it would not just be OPG's board.  We would also have to go to our shareholder and get their endorsement to proceed with the project, and we have sought that and achieved that, in our view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then, I mean...

It is hard to resist the temptation to say, then, what are we talking about here, because we're doing a lot of talking over something that this Board has no jurisdiction.

But I take it what you're saying is the spending part is still in this Board's purview; that is, this Board may not have a process where they have to assess the need, for example, as you would in a leave to construct.

But this Board still is in a position of saying, Is it a good idea to spend this money?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.  The Board is charged with setting just and reasonable rates, and, again, they would decide whether or not the monies that we are planning to spend, and the consequent impacts to depreciation and rate base, and all of those things, all of those would be within the Board's purview in setting just and reasonable rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I took it from what you said a few minutes ago with Mr. Poch that the other thing you're saying is that this Board, along the way, as it approves spending money along the way, it doesn't do a prudence review.  You are not expecting it to do a prudence review until the end?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I think what I said was that prudence reviews, in my view, are retrospective inquiries.  They are, How did you do, for example, against budget and schedule?

The Board looking forward, in setting rates on a forecast test year, has to be satisfied that the expenditures are reasonable, and sometimes reasonable can be synonymous with prudent.  But in terms of a prudence review, to me that is a retrospective enquiry where the Board might have a concern that there was some imprudent spending and wants to be satisfied that there wasn't.  That is the distinction I am drawing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are undoubtedly more knowledgeable in the regulatory minutiae than I am, but I have always understood that prudence had two parts to it, that the Board looks at the prudence of expenditures typically before they're made as a planning -- that is, Is this a good plan?  Is this a prudent plan?  If it works out the way you say it is going to, is that prudent?  And that is step one, and this is why you have capital budgets in all of the rate applications.

Then at the other end, the Board says, Okay, we saw your plan.  What happened isn't actually exactly like that.  Did this end up being prudent as it actually transpired?  Isn't that right?

MR. BARRETT:  If in the first instance the use of the word "prudence" is synonymous with just and reasonable, then I would agree with you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You will agree that the normal things associated with a prudence review, the conventional prudence review, for the Darlington refurbishment project, that evidence has not been led in this proceeding?

One can't conclude today, based on the evidence that you filed - "you", OPG, filed - that the Darlington refurbishment project is a prudent project; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I don't agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me, then.

MR. BARRETT:  I think we have led evidence that shows that the project has an attractive LUEC.  I think we have led evidence that shows that that LUEC compares favourably with alternative ways of addressing the need for base load generation.

I think we have led evidence that shows that the OPA and the province have endorsed the project.  I think we have led evidence to show that we have done a lot of analysis to date, that we have a well thought-out plan for managing the project, for doing assessments, for doing engineering, for developing contracting strategies, for developing decision gates, that is consistent with the best practices of project management.

I think all of that goes to the view that this is -- these are reasonable and prudent expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you would agree with me, wouldn't you, that the Board, in determining whether to say, yes, go ahead and spend this money, and, in addition, to say, yes, include it in rate base, should satisfy itself that the spending you are proposing is reasonable and that the project is likely a good idea?  Yes?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If it doesn't, it shouldn't let you put CWIP in rate base?

MR. BARRETT:  Nor should it reflect the other adjustments that are shown in chart 1 of Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. BARRETT:  There is a clear linkage between proceeding with the project and these consequent impacts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, absolutely.  So the whatever it is, $150 million reduction in revenue requirement that results from the change in the ARC, and that sort of stuff, would have to be reversed?

MR. BARRETT:  The 197.1 million, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you get up to numbers that big, it just doesn't matter.

Okay, let me move to the second question I had in this area, and that is with respect to cost of capital.  It could be either of you that answers this, I guess.

But I think it was you, Mr. Luciani, who said that the costs of capital for some of OPG's customers may be lower than OPG; right?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, that is certainly true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you characterize those customers?

MR. LUCIANI:  Well, I will characterize them from the U.S. standard point of view.

When you think of an integrated resource plan being done by the typical U.S. utility, it will assess its cost of capital and use that cost of capital in deciding what resources to construct.

That cost of capital will be based on the financing that it can create based on the ratepayers' support, collectively, the ratepayers can provide to the utility.

So typically you might have residential customers on credit cards.  You might have residential customers that don't have credit cards that live well below their means and own municipal bonds.

You have a whole array of ratepayers, and you can go through every customer class.  And it tends to be an exercise in futility to try to track down each and every ratepayer's discount rate or cost of capital, when what you are trying to do - and it is immediately observable - is the cost of capital incurred by the utility to finance any investment it might undertake.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is true, isn't it, that in the real world the cost of capital for many people is not financial?  It is non-financial.

So, for example, if you have to pay more money for something, it means you can't do something else.  You can't go on vacation, because you have to buy a new car.  That is not a financial cost.  That is a practical cost; right?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  You might, however, vary your spending based on timing.  I will make an investment now in order to save my money later.  Folks do that all the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  I am going to come to that in a second.

But, for example, you have ratepayers on fixed budgets, and where they're on fixed budgets, they can't simply go out and borrow the extra money that you want from them.  For the CWIP proposal, for example, they have to actually cut back somewhere else; right?

MR. LUCIANI:  Sure.  And when the plant does come in service and there is a much larger rate increase, you will have the same problem, only twice or three times over.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to use as an example my favourite example, schools.  So schools who are on a fixed budget, if they have to pay you an extra couple of million dollars a year, let's say, then they have to find that money somewhere; right?  They can't just go borrow it.

MR. LUCIANI:  I am not familiar with whether they could borrow it or not.  They would have to find additional money.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's assume hypothetically they can't borrow.  You can check if you wish.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that is not the test for evidence, that we have to go and accept your propositions and check them later.  We will make the assumption, but it is not evidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is a hypothetical.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If hypothetically schools in Ontario under the Education Act can't go out and borrow money for operating expenses - and anybody who reads the newspaper may have a conclusion on that - then they have to do something like close a library or terminate a music program, or something like that, to pay for this, don't they?

MR. LUCIANI:  Certainly if they cannot raise any additional monies, then they would have to find room in their budget.  I would accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I think, Madam Chair, that may be a good time to break.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right, thank you.  We will break until 1:30.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:27 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:39 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters?  No?

Mr. Shepherd, please go ahead.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I would like to turn if I could, witnesses, to Exhibit L-14-4 under Issue 2.2, but just for convenience, I wonder if we can use K13.4, which is identical to your IR, except that it has added a cumulative column.

Do you have that?  That is the PWU's handout this morning.

MR. BARRETT:  I think we're there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So it appears to me that before any units are in-service, that is before you are producing any power from the spending, you expect that the ratepayers will have paid somewhere between 740 million and $1.1 billion in their rates; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Is that simply the addition of the numbers in the "without CWIP" column?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is actually the "CWIP proposal column" and --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is why I suggested you use the PWU one, because they do have the cumulative numbers.

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, could you give me the numbers again?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 740 million to 1.1 billion.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I see those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that is how much the ratepayers will have paid before they see any power from these units?

MR. BARRETT:  Based on our currently projected cash flows.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, is the range; right?  You said the range is 6- to $10 billion, and so you are not changing that?

MR. BARRETT:  No I'm not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it is not going to be lower than 740 and it is not going to be higher than 1.1 billion?

MR. BARRETT:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me clear something up for a second.

You see the total for 2011 and 2012 in both the six billion and 10 billion examples, is $20 million.

I thought I heard you say this morning, and I think I have seen in the evidence, where you say that the revenue requirement impact for 2011, 2012 is 37.9 million?

MR. BARRETT:  The revenue requirement impact is 37.9.  I think you have to appreciate that this presentation is a relatively simplified illustration.  It is not precise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, half of the real number is less than -- I wouldn't have said "precise" is the correct word.  It is just wrong, isn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  For purposes of this presentation, we think it is -- it's indicative of the impacts.  It's only illustrative, and we have been very clear on that point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we shouldn't rely on these numbers as being correct, or even reasonably close to being correct?

MR. BARRETT:  I think you should rely on them as being reasonably indicative, but they're not precisely correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when I just asked you it is not going to be lower than 740 and it's not going to be higher than 1.1 billion before you produce power, you have a high confidence of that, but you are not sure?

MR. BARRETT:  I think as you heard in our testimony, we have very high confidence in that range of cash flows, but it's not 100 percent.

And again, these are only illustrative presentations in this table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Give me a second, please.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Certainly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you have more precise numbers for these that would be more consistent with your 37.9 million number?

MR. BARRETT:  We have precise figures for the test period.  Beyond the test period, these are the best numbers to use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go to the next area, then.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I don't mean to interrupt, Mr. Shepherd, but just so I can understand the comparison that is being made, the revenue requirement number for the test year -- for the test period is the 37.9 million?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Now, would I compare that to the -- this 20 million as being the comparable number that is on this "cumulative" column?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Shepherd, whenever you are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So these numbers are revenue requirement numbers; right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This impacts on revenue requirement?

MR. BARRETT:  There are really two elements in this.  There is the return on the capital, and then once the units go into service, there is the depreciation.

The other elements of the revenue requirement, since they're common, whether they're CWIP or not CWIP, aren't part of this illustration or as part of this presentation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Where I was going is these are not unit costs numbers; right?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  These are aggregate dollar figures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably, as you bring units into service, you have additional production?

MR. BARRETT:  As units come into service, that's right.  But for example, if you look at the $550 million year, 2020, we'll have at least one Darlington unit out then, perhaps two, because there is some overlap in the refurbishment outages.  And we'll be at the tail end of the Pickering production.

So if you start to look at unit rates, you can see that there will be a pretty significant unit rate impact as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I don't actually understand that.

When you have that $550 million of additional spending, or additional rates, if you like, revenue requirement, in year 10, that $550 million represents a certain amount of production from a unit; right?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  That's the recovery of capital and the depreciation on that capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason you are recovering that in that year is because the unit is producing power; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  The unit will -- yes, one of the units is in-service there.  What I was saying is that there are other units which will be out of service and undergoing refurbishment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have to wait until all of the units are in service before you look at the unit cost impact of this?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual rate shock really happens -- it is sort of -- it's volatile when you have units in and out of service, until you get them all in service again, and then you can measure it; right?

MR. BARRETT:  If you are simply considering it on the basis of dollars per megawatt-hour, yes.

We've tried to present it here in a more simplified and aggregate fashion, looking at the total aggregate dollars coming in, relative to some expectation of what the total revenue requirement might be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This chart has one unit coming in service in year 10; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And another one in year 11?

MR. BARRETT:  I am just trying to find where the -- where we have indicated the assumptions in terms of the units coming back, if you could just bear with me one second.

MR. SHEPHERD:  While you are looking at it, it looks like there is one in 13 and one in 14, as well.  You can check those too.

MR. BARRETT:  Probably have to go back to the D2 evidence.  It doesn't seem to be identified in that interrogatory response, so bear with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am really trying to find out what underlies these numbers.  These are numbers that you calculated, illustrative examples.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  These are just the return on the capital and the depreciation.  So when a unit comes into service under the current methodology, it would go into rate base, start to get a return.  It would also have a depreciation cost in that year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you do an illustrative example, you have to make some assumptions, and so I am asking what were your assumptions when you did this particular example as to when the units came into service.

MR. BARRETT:  And the assumptions would have been the assumptions which underpin our plan, which is described in D-2, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  And I am just...

MR. SHEPHERD:  2020, 2021, 2023 and 2024.

MR. BARRETT:  Do you have a reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am guessing.

MR. BARRETT:  Is it?  Yes.  If you look at figure 2 of D2, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  It has the first one coming in 2019, and then it looks like 2021, and then perhaps 2022, and then finally in 2024.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's interesting, because there's no costs in the current regulatory treatment for 2019, is there?

MR. BARRETT:  I think you assume that, for the purposes of this presentation, it is the end of 2019, so you see a full year of costs in 2020.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so you're not using -- you're not saying that there is any -- that it is included in rate base in 2019.  You're actually assuming it is included in rate base in 2020?

MR. BARRETT:  As I said, there were a number of kind of simplifying assumptions in terms of the presentation of this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that of course would -- all right, I will leave that.

Let me -- what this looks like, Mr. Barrett -- and tell me if this is a fair analogy.  I am old enough to remember lay-away plans, where you couldn't really afford to buy something, so what you did you put some money away every week or every month until it built up to enough you could buy something.

This looks like a lay-away plan to me.  Is that a fair analogy?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not all that familiar with lay-away plans --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're younger, then.

MR. BARRETT:  -- I have to confess.  This is -- as the Board set out and described in its report, it is a way for the utility to recover the carry on the capital expended prior to the asset coming into service, so that at the ultimate asset value that goes into service is lower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  No, I was actually not thinking about it from the utility's point of view.  I was, rather, thinking about it from the ratepayer's points of view.  You're asking the ratepayer to put aside money for something that they will get the benefit of ten years from now; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is part of the bargain associated with avoiding the downstream rate impact or mitigating the downstream rate impact, avoiding the impacts on utilities' debt costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then let me turn to this credit rating question, and I just have one question about this.  And this may be for you, Mr. Luciani.

Is it true -- am I right in assuming that the impacts of the change in your credit metrics will be, usually, different for an investor-owned utility than for a government-owned utility?  Is that fair?

MR. LUCIANI:  I don't know about usually.  I think it could be.  I think a decline in your credit metrics being would always be viewed negatively.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Clearly.  But if, for example, a credit rating agency gives weight, as they sometimes do, to the implicit government guarantee associated with government ownership, that would tend to lessen the impact of the changing credit metrics on your rating; isn't that true?

MR. LUCIANI:  I would think that what you're describing, some sort of perceived support from the government might have an impact on your current rating.

I would think, though, that launching a full-scale capital-intensive program would have a negative impact on that rating, because you are not changing the government support between the two cases.  The only thing you are changing is that capital-intensive campaign.  So I wouldn't think that it would necessarily -- necessarily be different.  I presume it could be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you are a person who buys bonds, say, like most of us in this room, and you are looking at an entity where your primary safety net, if you like, was that it is owned by the government, it would appear to me self-evident - maybe I am just misunderstanding what you're saying - that a change in the business side of their risks is not going to have as much influence there as it would if you don't have that implicit guarantee.  Am I wrong?

MR. LUCIANI:  I am starting with a base point that might be different because of the government-supported financing.

Let's, for example, assume a municipal bond with a 5 percent rate, and a corporate bond with an 8 percent rate, okay?  They're already starting at different points.  Now, there is financial distress on both of them.  There is some sort of deterioration in the supporting credit metrics.

It may well be that one goes to seven and one goes to four; right?  They both may move equally.  I wouldn't necessarily think that the movement in and of itself wouldn't change -- would necessarily change differently.  You know, it could well be that that would be the case, but I would think that the movement itself may not be necessarily different.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last series of questions is with respect to the milestones, and I think this is for you, Mr. Barrett.

Do I understand correctly that the definition phase is supposed to end in a milestone in 2012?

MR. BARRETT:  I am just going to turn to that chart.  There is a chart in D2, tab 2, schedule 1.  If you look at figure 2 on page 10 of 17, you can see that there's two parts to the definition phase.  There is preliminary planning and detailed planning leading up to a release quality estimate in 2014.

And there is some overlap between the preliminary planning and the detailed planning, and that is -- in terms of the preliminary planning overlap, that is really in respect of certain of the regulatory approvals that we will be seeking that will just take a little bit longer, but you can see that there is a gate 4 before we move into detail planning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have, in the evidence somewhere, the amount you expect will have been spent so far by the ratepayers at the point where you reach gate 4?  Do we know what that number is?  Assuming your CWIP proposal is accepted, is there a number that the ratepayers will be out of pocket by that time, X dollars, total?

MR. BARRETT:  By gate 4, you are talking about -- which looks to be at the end of 2011?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  No.  You just said gate 4 was the point in time at which you go -- you end the definition phase.

MR. BARRETT:  No.  That is the release quality estimate, which is 2014, as I read this chart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then let's say the release quality estimate, okay?  At that point in time when you have the release quality estimate, at that time, do we know how much the ratepayers will have spent so far, out of pocket, collected in rates?

MR. BARRETT:  We've put in -- we've put those numbers in evidence.  For the test period for the 2011 and 2012 period, it is $37.9 million, which I have spoken to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  -- in response to an interrogatory.  For a period 2013-2014, I think we have estimated that amount at $145 million for that second two-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So call it $183 million before you have the release quality estimate; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is about right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we will also have at that time an amount in rate base?

MR. BARRETT:  That's what gives rise to the CWIP dollars; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we know what that number is, the amount that you expect to be in rate base at the time you have the rates quality estimate?

MR. BARRETT:  I am certain we have put in evidence the capital -- the projection of capital expenditures.  I know that there is a confidential interrogatory which gives that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am looking at it, and the reason why I am not saying, 'Isn't that number X?', is because it is confidential.

But can you, in a general sense, tell us:  How big is that number, the amount that will be in rate base at the time you have the release quality estimate?

MR. BARRETT:  Not without reference to that interrogatory.  I don't recall the precise capital spend.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair for us to look at that, add up the numbers for each year up to 2014, and say that is the number in rate base?

MR. BARRETT:  Based on our current projections.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that is good enough.

Then the third thing is we had a discussion with the Darlington refurbishment panel about the possibility that at the time you got there, to that point in time in 2014, you would also have commitments that you have made to people to spend additional money, because as you say, this is not completely linear.  There is some overlap; right?

So they said yes, here probably will be some commitments.  And if at that time you said:  No, we're not going to do this, there might be some money to spend; right?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have any idea how much that is likely to be?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say it is probably going to be hundreds of millions of dollars in a project this size?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't want to give evidence on that point, given my limited understanding of that.  That may be a detail that's somewhere in the project evidence, but it is not -- I am not familiar with the project at that level of detail.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask it a different way.

Is it likely to be a material amount?

MR. BARRETT:  I expect it would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.   
And then finally -- so these are all amounts that the Board will have, by that time -- assuming your proposal is accepted -- the Board will at that time either have allowed you to collect from the ratepayers, or allowed you to put in rate base, or allowed you to make commitments for; right?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  And that will happen in two stages.

We will have this proceeding, which will cover the 2011, 2012 period.

And we expect to be back for another application, which would cover the 2013, 2014 period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, do you have -- it isn't in your evidence, but I am wondering whether you have available a proposal for the treatment of those amounts, if it turns out that you don't go ahead with the project.  You get to the release-quality estimate and you say: Now, this is going to be too expensive, or the policy has gone in a different direction, and you know, we're not building nuclear any more.

And there's, I don't know, a couple of billion dollars, let's say, that is committed or spent.

Do you have a proposal as to -– today, or an expectation as to what would happen to that money?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  We would bring that money forward for recovery, pursuant to Section 6.24 of the Regulation 53/05.  The test in that part of the regulation is a prudence test, so we would have to demonstrate that we had been prudent in the execution or management of that project in order to recover any monies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you would agree, wouldn't you, that if -- if the Board allows you in that period to include CWIP in rate base, then the --


MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, is this the period after the project has been stopped, or the prior period?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The period up to 2014.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board allows you to include CWIP in rate base in that period, you would agree with me, wouldn't you, that the Board would then be less likely to say, should be less likely to say:  Wait a second.  We didn't tell you this was okay.  Because they would have in effect already told you that it was okay; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think it would be inconsistent for the Board to have a view that we shouldn't be proceeding with the project and still allowing us to recover CWIP in rate base.  Or, as I have indicated earlier, the other adjustments which are set out on chart 1 at Exhibit D-, tab 2, schedule 1.

The Board should be satisfied that it's reasonable and prudent, to use the definition we talked about before, for us to be proceeding with this project in order to make these adjustments to rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And therefore the Board is implicitly, if it allows you to include CWIP in rate base -- tell me whether this is correct -- the Board is implicitly saying to you:  Even if you don't proceed with this project, if you spend this money that you are planning to spend, we're going to let you recover it from ratepayers?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that goes too far.  I think the Board would still reserve for itself, and appropriately so, the ability to go back, through a retrospective view, to see whether or not we had executed the project that gave rise to those actual expenditures in a way that was reasonable and prudent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the Board couldn't say in 2014 -- not consistent with a CWIP decision today -- couldn't say this was a bad idea from the start?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that would be inconsistent, but they could say:  We found the project to be reasonable, based on a project plan and series of processes that you laid out for us, and you departed in some fashion from that and that gave rise to extra costs, and we're not satisfied that that was a prudent development.

That certainly would be -- the Board would be free to do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, that's not the whole of it, is it?  Because you talked about this 197 million that arises in the 2011, 2012 period as a reduction in the revenue requirement because of the extension of Darlington; right?

Remember?  You recall that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there will presumably be a similar amount for 2013 and 2014; right?

MR. BARRETT:  There will be an amount.  How close it is to this number, I am not certain.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if the project didn't go ahead, that 400, 500, whatever million dollars, that would have to be collected from the ratepayers too; right?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly there would be a resetting of the ARO.  There would be an adjustment to the depreciation life.   There would be a series of adjustments.

I don't know if that gets you exactly back to a perfectly equivalent amount.  I haven't done that analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's going to be a big number?  It would be a big number?

MR. BARRETT:  It will be millions of dollars, or a material amount, if that is the answer you're looking for.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is all of my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. DeRose?

MR. WARREN:  Mr. De Rose has kindly allowed me to precede him, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead, Mr. Warren.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Barrett, just before we leave it, if you could turn to Exhibit L, tab 14, schedule 4, this is the VECC interrogatory and the table to which Mr. Shepherd was referring.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes I have that.

MR. WARREN:  I am no doubt the only one in the room that doesn't understand that.  But if I look at 2011, 2012, we know that the amount to be recovered from ratepayers is 37.9 million; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right, for the test period.

MR. WARREN:  And I am puzzled, then.  Why would you put in the numbers 10 in each year, when we know what the exact number is?

MR. BARRETT:  Again, I think it has to do with the simplifying assumptions that the analysts made in doing this work.

I think there was an assumption about when the capital would come in that would be different from the traditional rate base, opening, closing -- average of opening and closing balances.

MR. WARREN:  But those numbers are just wrong?

MR. BARRETT:  They're illustrative.  They are not the most accurate numbers for the test period.  The most accurate numbers for the test period are 37.9.

Again, the whole purpose of this was just to illustrate what happens down the road if CWIP is not approved, and the rate impacts that will be realized.

MR. WARREN:  Other than the two numbers which we know to be wrong, can the Board rely on any of the numbers in this chart?

MR. BARRETT:  For its purpose, yes.

MR. WARREN:  I don't understand that answer.

MR. BARRETT:  Again --


MR. WARREN:  If we don't know what the numbers are, what reliance can we put on them?  Any?

MR. BARRETT:  The underpinning cash flows are the same cash flows which are in -- that underpin the economic feasibility of the analysis that have been provided to the Board in that confidential undertaking.

The calculation of the revenue requirement impact has been somewhat simplified.

MR. WARREN:  What's the difference between being simplified and being wrong, Mr. Barrett?  Can you help me with that?

We've got two numbers that we know are wrong.  What's the difference between a simplified number and a wrong number?

MR. BARRETT:  In this particular instance, it goes to the level of precision that is necessary to illustrate the point.

Whether we had $37.9 million there or $20 million there, the point that we're trying to make with this response would be no different.

MR. WARREN:  I will leave it at that, Mr. Barrett.

Mr. Luciani, just a few questions for you.  If you could turn up your report, which -- Madam Chair, for purposes of the record -- is Exhibit D4, tab 1, schedule 1.

Mr. Luciani, if you could get to section 2.2, which begins on page 3?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Mr. Luciani, I apologize in advance.  I went back through the interrogatory responses again yesterday, and I couldn't find this.

Perhaps it is in the evidence.  Can you tell me which of the utilities that are referred to here or which of the projects here are investor-owned utilities and which are state-owned utilities?

MR. LUCIANI:  I believe all of the projects noted here are investor-owned utilities.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. LUCIANI:  For the most part, other than investor-owned utilities, it is a lot of capital to raise for any other type of utility.  They would tend to be co-owners and own a minority share of a big piece -- of a bigger project.

MR. WARREN:  If I look at your chart, which summarizes the states, which is on page 4 --


MR. LUCIANI:  Table 1.

MR. WARREN:  -- table 1, with the exception of North Carolina and South Carolina, the project-specific -- the projects to which the CWIP legislation applies are nuclear projects; correct?  Have I got that right?

MR. LUCIANI:  I believe Michigan notes large capital investments, but, for the most part, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Fair point.

At a high level of generality, would I be correct in understanding that the purpose of this legislation is to persuade or, if you wish, induce investor-owned utilities to spend a very great deal of money building large projects, principally nuclear projects; is that fair?

MR. LUCIANI:  No, I wouldn't say it that way.  To persuade and induce, I would not characterize it that way.

I would characterize it as the investor-owned utility identifying a new nuclear facility as potentially economic option, but noting the very high difficulties in raising the capital to do so, and, in working with the legislature, or the legislature aware of that, are trying to come up with a methodology that would help support the financing of an economic new facility.

MR. WARREN:  And the legislature passes legislation authorizing CWIP and they hope that passing that legislation will be persuasive, sufficiently persuasive, to get the investor-owned utility to invest in the project; is that fair?

MR. LUCIANI:  Again, "persuasive" is not a word I would use.  I would say that they would -- that the investor-owned utility would find it supportive of ongoing -- entering into the nuclear -- the new nuclear facility.

MR. WARREN:  So I look at your table 1, there are nine states that have passed this legislation.  Am I correct in understanding that 51 states don't have legislation authorizing the use of CWIP; is that fair?  Sorry, 41.


[Laughter]

MR. WARREN:  I am a member of the Tea Party.  I keep adding things.

[Laughter]

MR. LUCIANI:  I think it would be fair to say that most of the other states have not -- they would be summarized here if they had.  Most other states are not considering a significant investment in a new nuclear facility.  Some of the states in the U.S., of course, are -- the investor-owned utilities do not build regulated facilities.  They are deregulated, as far as the generation.  So those states, it would not exactly matter.

For the most part, you are finding in the south, the south central part of the country, where nuclear -- new nuclear facilities are being contemplated.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I wonder, Mr. Luciani, finally, a couple of questions.  If you could turn up the first page of your report, second full paragraph, second sentence:
"Given the magnitude of the funding required, Ontario's utilities need greater regulatory certainty prior to making significant capital investments..."


Would you agree with me -- you understand that the shareholder in this case, the government of Ontario -- sorry, let me be more precise.  The representative of the shareholder, the province of Ontario, has told OPG to build this facility.  You understand that?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, if I could just interject, that is not correct, sir.

The province has endorsed the OPG board's decision.  Certainly we earlier received a directive to explore the feasibility of Darlington refurbishment.

MR. WARREN:  Fair distinction, Mr. Barrett.

The province of Ontario has approved the building of this refurbishment of this facility.  Is that a fairer characterization of it?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I will accept that.

MR. WARREN:  You understand that, Mr. Luciani?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. WARREN:  Could you and I agree that is a very high degree of regulatory certainty when the province of Ontario approves the building of the project?  Do you not agree with that?

MR. LUCIANI:  I would accept that it provides additional regulatory certainty.

MR. WARREN:  Now, looking just at the end of that paragraph, the final paragraph, the final sentence says:
"The resulting greater regulatory certainty of placing CWIP in rate base mitigates the disincentive for utilities to construct the long-lead time projects needed."


You would agree with me that since the province of Ontario has approved this, there is no disincentive to building it; fair?

MR. LUCIANI:  No, I would not say that at all.

There is certainly a disincentive -- again, this is from -- from a U.S. perspective, you could not build a facility, a new nuclear facility, where you're talking about $6 billion, $10 billion, $12 billion, without some supporting regulation in effect for the recovery of the funds.

That is what this sentence is talking about.  Without that support for the recovery, you are talking about potential for significant credit metric deterioration and the possibility of higher debt costs.

I think that would be true regardless of the shareholder being the province.

MR. WARREN:  Can you point me, Mr. Luciani -- perhaps I have missed it, but can you point me to any example where the province of Ontario has approved or authorized or directed the construction of a nuclear facility where the cost of that nuclear facility has not been recovered in its entirety, or, to put the matter another way, can you point us to an illustration where the province of Ontario has authorized or directed the construction of a nuclear facility and allowed it to default?

MR. LUCIANI:  I am not aware of such a circumstance.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

Mr. Barrett, a couple of questions finally for you.

If you could turn up the prefiled evidence at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, beginning at page 3?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have that.

MR. WARREN:  In the second -- sorry, first full paragraph under heading 4.0, you say, or the evidence says:
"Moreover, the risks of the project are similar to those noted by the OEB for green energy projects, which include risks related to project delays..."


And you dealt with that with Mr. Shepherd, I believe.  Let me deal with the question of public controversy.

Am I to understand, by this, that there will be some public uprising that would prompt the government to renege on its support for this project?  Is that what we are supposed to understand?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I don't think that is what we're saying here.  We are just observing that there will be -- we expect that there will be some public opposition to our plans.

There is a series of regulatory processes that have to be achieved as part of the Darlington refurbishment, certain EAs, certain CNSC approvals, and we expect that there will be some opposition to through those processes.

MR. WARREN:  The fact there may be some opposition, that there may be -- for example, perhaps Mr. Gibbons isn't happy with the refurbishment of Darlington.  I haven't asked him personally, but he may be.  Is it the suggestion that this is a meaningful risk that some folks will be unhappy with the refurbishment of Darlington?  Is that your position, sir; this is a meaningful, credible risk?

MR. BARRETT:  We expect the project to be executed.  As we have laid out, we expect that we will be able to achieve our plan.  There are risks there, but we expect that those risks are manageable.

MR. WARREN:  And, finally, in that sentence, the recovery of costs, and I put the same proposition to you as I just put to Mr. Luciani.


Are you aware of any instance of a nuclear facility in this province, either approved or directed by the province of Ontario, that the province has allowed to default so it can't recover its costs?

MR. BARRETT:  I am certainly not aware of any default.

I don't want to get into a debate about the history of Ontario Hydro and what costs were recovered or not recovered through the restructuring process.

MR. WARREN:  Now, my final question, sir, is on the next page.  This is really a kind of a follow-up to questions my friend, Mr. Shepherd, asked that deal with section 4.1, "Costs of the Project in Relation to Current Rate Base".

As I understand this evidence, Mr. Barrett - correct me if I'm wrong - the comparison here is between the total of the estimated cost -- sorry, the estimated costs of the entire project, which is between 6 and 10 billion, correct, and the amount of the CWIP; is that fair?  Is that the comparison being made?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  The comparison that is being made in 4.1 is --


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry.  I apologize.  Between that and the overall rate base of OPG; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  The nuclear rate base.

MR. WARREN:  Okay, the nuclear rate base.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, of approximately $4 billion.

MR. WARREN:  But the issue before the Board in this case is whether to approve CWIP for the definition phase of the project; is that correct?

That's the narrow question that the Board has to decide in this case?

MR. BARRETT:  We haven't framed it that narrowly.  We are asking for CWIP for the entire period, but I understand that we would be -- there would be another case in two years, and this may very well be an issue again.

MR. WARREN:  Well, if you just take it for the sake of -- we will deal with that, I presume, in argument, Mr. Barrett.

But let's just take it for the moment that the narrow issue which is before the Board for the test period is the approval of CWIP for the definition phase.  Okay?

What's the cost of the definition phase?  Not the CWIP portion of it, but the cost, estimated cost of the definition phase?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't have that number.  Are you talking about the capital costs in the test period?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Just bear with me.

So I am just looking at the "approval" section, which is the place I go back to.

So in 2011, the amount of capital that would be in rate base is $125.5 million.

And then in 2012, the amount that would be in rate base is $306 million.

MR. WARREN:  So it is a little over $400 million in total capital for the definition phase in the test period?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  Those are not additive.  If you want to look at the average amount in rate base over the test period, it would be the average of those two numbers.

MR. WARREN:  But if we compare the average, then, to the total rate base of the nuclear phase -- of the nuclear portion of OPG, it is a very much smaller percentage than the one that is represented in section 4.1; fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I mean, our understanding of the screening criteria or consideration criteria that is in the Board's report, is the cost of the -- what the criteria is described as is the cost of the project in proportion to the current rate base of the utility.

So we understood that to be the total cost of the project.  And that is what we've used for purposes of comparison.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, Mr. Barrett, is in your discussion with counsel that preceded me, you talked about borrowing costs and the effect on borrowing costs.

I take it that we have no numbers by which we can determine or we can assess what the impact or possible impact may be on borrowing costs of CWIP, one way or another?  Is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  That's fair.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. DeRose?

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


Mr. Luciani, my name is Vince DeRose.  I represent Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

And my first question is for you.  Mr. Warren has just referred you to your evidence where you talk about the nine states where CWIP is available.

Are you aware if any of the utilities in those nine states advised either their legislature, where legislation was required, or their regulator, where it was approved by regulation, that they would proceed with the project in question regardless of whether CWIP was or was not approved?

MR. LUCIANI:  I am I am not aware specifically whether they said that or not.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And Mr. Barrett, do I understand it right that in this case, even if the Board rejects your CWIP proposal, OPG will proceed with Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  We've been -- I think we answered an interrogatory on that question.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  Now, Mr. Barrett, in Mr. Luciani's report, he refers to intergenerational subsidies as one of the aspects of CWIP.

Does OPG accept that if CWIP were approved, that it would constitute an intergenerational subsidy?

MR. BARRETT:  "Subsidy" is a pretty loaded word.  Certainly there would be intergenerational transfers, or intergenerational issues.  We would be having customers paying an amount now for an asset that would be coming into service later.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So --


MR. BARRETT:  But -- if I could just finish -- as the report goes on to indicate, that that is not an uncommon feature of regulation or rate-setting.

It becomes an issue, I think, when it becomes -- when it rises to a level that it is undue, but you are never going to have a situation where there are no intergenerational transfers.

MR. DeROSE:  Now, would you agree with me that one of the rationales for the normal, traditional approach of putting capital costs into rate base at the time that a project becomes used and useful, is that -- to avoid that very issue, that customers from, in this case, a decade before would be paying for a project that does not provide any benefit to them?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly that is part of the thinking around the current model.  So that the ratepayers are seeing directly that the asset is now in-service and serving their needs.

But as Mr. Luciani's report indicates, there's been ebbs and flows around this issue historically.  There have been prior periods where CWIP was used.

And my takeaway from the report is that when you are in a period where you are doing a lot of building of infrastructure, then that is a period where you are more likely to see supports like CWIP in rate base put in place.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would you agree that -- the way I take your evidence is that one of the considerations that OPG has undertaken or that one of the drivers for CWIP is that you are better off that customers pay now to mitigate the rates in 2020, to avoid possible rate shock or large increases in 2020; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that is one of the principal reasons that we have advanced.

And in the Board's report, when the Board considered this very question and put CWIP in rate base in the utilities' tool kit, it decided that, as I read the report, on a similar basis, that this was a way of dealing with rate shock.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And is it your regulatory group that considers whether increasing customer costs now to mitigate future costs impacts is or is not appropriate?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly we developed the regulatory strategy, and bring that to senior management and ultimately our board for approval.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And do I, then, take it that it is also your regulatory group that would assess whether mitigation is required for current customer impacts?

MR. BARRETT:  In the context of a rate application?

MR. DeROSE:  Correct.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  That would be panel 10B?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But just to understand, it would be your regulatory group that is both looking at whether mitigation is required for the current cost impacts, and also whether mitigation is required or appropriate to mitigate possible future rate impacts, 2020 and beyond?  You are sort of looking at both ends of current mitigation and future mitigation?

MR. BARRETT:  In the context of preparing and filing rate applications, yes.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, just one other IR that I would like to take you to, and it is under Issue 2.2 and it is actually --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I missed that, Mr. DeRose.

MR. DeROSE:  Sorry.  It is under Issue 2.2, and it is CME No. 6.  It is Exhibit L, tab 4, schedule 6.

Do you have that, Mr. Barrett?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And the first question I have is with respect to obtaining -- whether OPG obtained specific approval to seek CWIP recovery from the shareholder.

Your answer at sub (c) is that OPG did not seek shareholder approval of its CWIP in rate base proposal.

Did OPG make the shareholder aware that it was introducing CWIP?

I recognize you don't need explicit approval, but did you make the shareholder aware that there was going to be the introduction of CWIP recovery in this case?

MR. BARRETT:  We certainly do provide information on our application and the elements of our application, and I expect that as part of that, we would have indicated that CWIP was part of the application.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Do you know whether you would have made the shareholder aware that this is something new that has not been applied for in previous cases?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't know if we indicated that, or not.

MR. DeROSE:  Do you know whether you would have advised that the consequence of this is that there would be $37.9 million more in rates for 2011 and 2012; that there would be that increase compared to if you use the traditional method?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  In fact, I got that specific question from a staff member at the Ministry of Energy.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And would that question and answer have been in writing?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it was by e-mail.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Is that something that you would be willing to produce?

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do this?  I will try it again.  Why don't we do this?  I will take a look -- we will produce the portion relating to the Q and A that's been referenced.  It has been referenced; that's fine.  I am just not sure if there is anything that goes -- that is beyond that in the e-mail, and if there is, then we will obviously have to deal with it accordingly, so subject to that.

I don't know whether there is any part of it that is privileged, irrelevant.  I don't know, but -- I don't know what is in the e-mail.  I haven't seen it.

MR. DeROSE:  I think it is fair that Mr. Smith can review the e-mail and perhaps advise back.  My position would be anything in the e-mail related to CWIP should be disclosed, so not just the question and answer on the specific amount, but what we would like to see is:  What were the questions and what were the answers and the information provided on CWIP in the e-mail.

So on that understanding, I don't have a problem, subject to Mr. Smith coming back and advising to the contrary.

MR. SMITH:  No.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  J13.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J13.1: TO PROVIDE QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS AND THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ON CWIP IN THE E-MAIL FROM THE MINISTRY OF ENERGY.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Barrett, if I could then -- we are still at Interrogatory No. 6 from CCC, and I would like to take you to the sub (d).  You say:
"The appropriate level of approval for CWIP in rate base proposal is the OPG board of directors."

Did you provide your board of directors with a specific presentation on CWIP, or was it included in one of your presentations to the board of directors where you describe the CWIP proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  It was part of the materials that we provided to the Board through the application approval process, the materials that are subject to a prior panel ruling.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So, for instance, I went through your presentation to the board of directors on November 19th.  This is the presentation that was -- has been put on the record.  You are familiar with that?

MR. BARRETT:  Can you give me a reference?

MR. DeROSE:  It is the -- it is in the CME compendium.  One moment.  I can...

[Mr. Millar passes document to Mr. DeRose]

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.  It is CME compendium K9.5.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I have it.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  If you turn to tab 6 -- just for the record, it is Exhibit F2-1-1, attachment 1.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I see tab 6.

MR. DeROSE:  This is the only presentation to the board of directors that, in this case, I believe is on the record.  You have already alluded to the prior -- to the Board's prior decision; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  This is the nuclear business plan.  I think, as we have indicated earlier, we do go to the board with specific -- to seek specific approval for our application, and we talk about issues associated with the application.  And that is where we would have talked about CWIP.  It wouldn't have been part of the nuclear business plan.

MR. DeROSE:  So it is not a surprise that CWIP is not mentioned in this business plan?

MR. BARRETT:  It wouldn't be appropriate for it to be mentioned there.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So I am right that in terms of what is on the record, you have not produced any exchange of information between yourself and your board of directors that addresses the CWIP issue?

MR. BARRETT:  Pursuant to the panel's ruling, yes, that's right.

MR. DeROSE:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of my questions.


And, Madam Chair, perhaps before my friends from GEC start, with your permission, I would like to be excused, if I can, and I will fly back to my family.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's fine.  Thank you.

MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Alexander.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am in the Board's hands regarding the afternoon break, as to whether you would like me to begin or if you would like to take the afternoon break now, or if you would like me to -- or what makes the most sense.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you start?  Do you still expect to be about a half an hour?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think I will be in the range of 15 minutes to half an hour.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's go ahead and see if we can complete that before the break.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  Before I begin, Madam Chair, the Board should have before it -- it will need the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference Book for OPG panel 6 and 10, which was marked as Exhibit K6.3.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We have that now.  Thank you.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Then the other thing that I will be referring to is a supplementary cross-examination reference book for OPG panel 10 dated October 29th, 2010 that was circulated by e-mail last night, which just contains a couple of short transcript excerpts that have been marked, as well.  I believe Board Staff has your copies.

MR. MILLAR:  We will call that Exhibit K13.5, Madam Chair, the Pollution Probe supplementary compendium for panel 10.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.5:  POLLUTION PROBE SUPPLEMENTARY COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 10.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We have those now.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Alexander:


MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Basil Alexander and I am counsel for Pollution Probe, and with me is Jack Gibbons.

MR. BARRETT:  Good afternoon.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I expect that the answers to most of my questions will be answered by Mr. Barrett, but I will pose the questions and leave it to the panel to decide if both of you should answer or what makes the most sense.

So to start, if I could get you to have a look at the Pollution Probe supplementary cross-examination reference book for OPG panel 10 that's been marked as Exhibit K13.5.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I could take you to page 1 of the supplementary book, you will see that the excerpt that comes after that is an excerpt from the transcript for October 26th, 2010 in this proceeding, specifically volume 11.  Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Just flipping the page to page 2, I have given you a couple of additional pages for context, but at page 20 of the transcript, there is a portion of my cross-examination of Ms. McShane that is marked from panel 8.  Do you see that, starting at line 14?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And just to read that:
"If the Darlington project is a regulated project, then regulation brings to the project a degree of protection that a merchant plant doesn't have.  And I think the Board well recognized in the last case that merchant generation is a higher risk animal than regulated generation."

I presume you agree with that statement?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And, in your view, is regulated generation less risky than merchant generation because the regulator may allow the generator to pass some or all of its cost overruns on to consumers?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Why not?  Why is regulated less risky -- why is regulated generation less risky, in your view?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it is broader than that.

In a market circumstance, things may turn against you, despite your best efforts, and you just may be out of luck.

In a regulated context, you have an ability to go back to a regulator and make your case for the recovery of costs that the Board finds just and reasonable.  The market doesn't necessarily provide you with that opportunity.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So that would allow the generator to pass some or all of its cost overruns on to consumers; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Only if the Board thought that that was just and reasonable.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could take you to page 5 of the supplementary cross-examination book, which has been marked as Exhibit K13.5; do you have it?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  This appears -- this is just the cover page for the transcript, the excerpt of the transcript that follows afterwards in this proceeding for October 19th, 2010, volume 7.  Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Flipping the page to page 6 of the document book in Exhibit K13.5, this is page 36 of the transcript, which appears to be Mr. Poch's cross-examination of panel 6.

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And just starting at line 18 on page 36 of the transcript, page 6 of the document:

"Mr. Poch:  And your graphic suggests that at 8 cents, you pretty much have 100 percent confidence you can do it for 8 cents or less?
Mr. DeRose:  Fairly close, as our Monte Carlo analysis does look at the tails, and the tail, can go on, you know, indefinitely.  But it is a small, you know, percentage that it would.  It basically says here that, you know, 99.78 percent chance that this project is going to come in under 8 cents."

And I presume you agree with that answer?

MR. BARRETT:  The company has very high confidence that the LUEC will be below 8 cents.  I don't have any particular expertise in Monte Carlo simulations, though.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But you have no reason to dispute that answer?

MR. BARRETT:  I know Gary Rose, and he is a very intelligent and careful individual, so if he says that this is true, I have no reason to dispute it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So it appears that OPG's position is that it is confident that there is a 99.78 percent probability that it can successfully complete the Darlington refurbishment project for less than 8 cents per kilowatt-hour, then; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That is our evidence.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So what I am trying to understand is why there is there a need for this project to be regulated.  For example, why can't you simply do it as a merchant project?  Or why can't it proceed by just getting a contract with the OPA to supply electricity to it for 8 cents per kilowatt-hour?

MR. BARRETT:  The government has determined that this facility should be regulated, and it has so prescribed in a regulation under the Ontario Energy Board Act.

It is not for the company to take a different approach.  We are not able to take a different approach.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And it is your position that applies even in the context of the Darlington refurbishment or rebuild?

MR. BARRETT:  That's our position.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please provide a copy of that regulation that you just referred to?

MR. BARRETT:  It is actually in evidence.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Mm-hmm?

MR. BARRETT:  Let me just turn it up.  It is in the As.

MR. SMITH:  It is in tab A.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You will have to bear with me as I pull it up.

MR. BARRETT:  There is a section of the A that deals with the -- it is summary of the legislative framework.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Do you have a specific reference?

MR. BARRETT:  I am just turning it up.

So it is going to be in A1, tab 6, schedule 1, and it will be one of the attachments.  It is attachment 2 in that section.

And if you look at Section 2 in that regulation, you will see there is a list of facilities that have been prescribed pursuant to this regulation

MR. ALEXANDER:  Just hang on a second.  I am catching up to you to make sure I've got it.

So the list is the prescribed generation facilities.

MR. BARRETT:  At section 2, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just so I understand the company's position, is it your position that all new major investments for Darlington nuclear generation station -- generating station, have to be -- would result in it being considered regulated and prescribed?

MR. BARRETT:  Unless this regulation has changed, then that's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Would the company have a problem if the regulation were changed so the rebuild could be done as a merchant generation?

MR. SMITH:  With respect, there is no evidence that the regulation is going to be changed at all, so -- particularly during the test period, so I think we are well beyond the realm of the relevant.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think I am entitled to ask the witness a relevant question, because this comes into the various ways this project can proceed.

This is related to the construction work-in-progress and to the CWIP issue, as to the reasonableness and costs.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, if it is a matter of regulation, does it really matter whether or not the company has a problem with it or not?  If the regulation has changed, the regulation has changed, and that will govern their --


MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand that point.  What I want to know is if the company would not have a problem if that happened.  That is all I want to know, if there might be some other reason as to --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, they might have a problem, but I don't see -- it really won't matter if they have a problem, if that is what the regulation says; right?

MR. SMITH:  We're out of luck.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I will move on.  Has the government of Ontario issued a directive or regulation that requires the Board to include the capital costs associated with the Darlington refurbishment in rate base?

MR. BARRETT:  By "Board" do you mean the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  I am not aware of any such regulation.  I mean, the Board has, as you know, issued a report, EB- 2009-0152, indicating that in certain circumstances, in certain cases, it believes that CWIP in rate base is appropriate to deal with issues like rate shock and impacts on utility debt costs.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand that is your position, but I think the focus of my question was on the government of Ontario.  And I think your answer was you are not aware of anything.

MR. BARRETT:  I am not aware of any.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Now, in order for the Board to determine whether or not the costs of the Darlington refurbishment should be included in rate base, and is in the public interest, would you agree with me that the Board has to do the two following -- has to make the two following findings?

First, that OPG's cost estimates for the refurbishment are reasonable and credible.

I will ask them in turn.

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is fair.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Then the second one is that there
is -- that there are no viable alternatives that can meet Ontario's base load electricity needs at a lower cost and a lower risk?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think that is required.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you explain why you don't think that is required?

MR. BARRETT:  This is not an integrated resource planning exercise.

We're coming forward with a proposal that has been endorsed by our board and endorsed by the government and supported by the OPA, seeking to have certain costs placed into rates.

The Board, in placing certain costs into rates, use a just and reasonable standard, but I don't think that engages, necessarily, a system planning exercise.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Well, that sort of ties into my next question.

Wouldn't you agree with me that the appropriate forum to discuss those and other issues, for the Board to investigate those issues, would be the proceeding to review the OPA's integrated system power plan?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I would not.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Why not?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, I think I indicated earlier the project has been endorsed by the province.  We are proceeding with the project.

So I am not sure that there is any value in waiting until the integrated resource planning process is concluded in a couple of years.  Certainly we are proceeding with the project.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think I will come back to some of that in a second, but if I can get you to now take out the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book for panels 6 and 10, dated October 18th, 2010, which was marked as Exhibit K6.3; do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could take you to tab 1 of Exhibit K6.3, and this is the -- a report by the Darlington rebuild -- this is a report by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance Research Inc. entitled "The Darlington Rebuild Consumer Protection Plan."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do see that.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Flipping to page 2 of the document book, page 1 of the report, do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And on the left-hand column in the fourth paragraph, there are some portions that have been marked and underlined.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just to read this:
"In 2014, OPG's management will 'revise its feasibility assessment, establish the project scope, cost and schedule' and seek approval from its board of directors to proceed with the Darlington rebuild 'assuming that the economics of the project remain favourable'."

Would you agree that that is accurate?

MR. BARRETT:  No, it is inaccurate.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Okay.  I will ask you to explain that, because the end note I believe is based on -- the quotes, I believe, are based out of your evidence.  So --


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  If you look at the end note, it references Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 10.  And if you turn to that -- I will give people a moment.

So if you look at page -- sorry, page 10, lines 7 through 10, you will see that the paragraph in your document does not represent our evidence accurately.

What our evidence says is as follows:

"In 2014, OPG will revise its feasibility assessment, establish the project scope, cost, and schedule and prepare a recommendation to the OPG Board to proceed to the execution phase of the project, assuming that the economics of the project remain favorable."


And I think the omission of the words "execution phase" in your document misrepresents, to a degree, what we're saying here in our evidence.


As we have discussed this project, there are a number of gates which have releases associated with them, and this is one of those gates and releases.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Without that approval or authorization, OPG cannot proceed with actually rebuilding Darlington nuclear station; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  I think we have been clear that there are a series of releases.  While we expect the project to proceed and proceed on the schedule and costs that we have indicated, we're managing the project in a way that will allow us to continue to refine our numbers, do all of the requisite planning and scheduling, and there are places where we have to get subsequent approvals.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this is one of them.  So without board of directors' approval here, you can't actually rebuild Darlington nuclear station; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We will not proceed to the execution phase until we get through this gate.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So you can't rebuild it, then, unless you --


MR. BARRETT:  I think that follows, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Has the Minister of Energy or the government of Ontario endorsed your CWIP proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  We haven't sought their endorsement or approval.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So to your knowledge, they have not endorsed your CWIP, the CWIP proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  To my knowledge, they have not.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I could take you to tab 11 of the Pollution Probe cross-examination reference book for OPG panel 6 and 10, which was marked as Exhibit K6.3.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry.  Did you say page 11?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Tab 11.

MR. BARRETT:  Tab 11.

MR. ALEXANDER:  It will be page 32.  Sorry, I presumed you had the tabbed versions.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That is Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, from our evidence.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes, I was about to say that.  This is an excerpt from D2, tab 2, schedule 2.  Just flipping ahead to page 34, which is page 3 of the evidence at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 2, do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  There is a marked portion starting at line 7, under 4.0, "Proposed Regulatory Treatment".  Just reading that:
"Inclusion of CWIP in rate base for the Darlington Refurbishment project is warranted since it meets the criteria for qualifying investments specified by the OEB in its Report."


I presume that is still correct and that is the company's position?

MR. BARRETT:  It is still correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the report that you are referring to is the EB-2009-0152 report of the Board entitled, "The Regulatory Treatment of Infrastructure Investment In Connection With The Rate-Regulated Activities of Distributors and Transmitters in Ontario"; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Just going according to the title of the report, it is with respect to distributors and transmitters; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  The focus of the report is on the distributors or transmitters, but, as we've indicated in response to a number of interrogatories, we read the report as providing, on a case-by-case, the ability for other utilities to access the alternative regulatory mechanisms that are described in the report.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand that is your position.  I think that is a matter for argument, but OPG is not a distributor or transmitter; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And electricity distribution and transmission is a natural monopoly; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And OPG is an electricity generator; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  In terms of these assets, a regulated electricity generator.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But so it is an electricity generator, then, obviously.

And is electricity generation a natural monopoly?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  I think what we've -- well, let me step back.  There are circumstances where you could have a vertically integrated monopoly which has generation in it, and that was the structure of the industry for many years.

In the Ontario context, because we have a market, electricity generation is not a natural monopoly.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Has the Board ever stated that the findings of the EB-2009-0152 report should also apply to electricity generators?

MR. BARRETT:  That is our reading of the report.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Have they said -- I realize you referred to certain -- you've referred to -- could you provide the references as to why that justifies your reading of your report?

MR. BARRETT:  There was an interrogatory on that.  Do you want me to turn it up?

MR. ALEXANDER:  That would be helpful, if you could.

MR. BARRETT:  There was a Board Staff interrogatory, and that is Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 11.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Do you have an issue number for that?

MR. BARRETT:  It is issue 2.2.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 11?

MR. BARRETT:  Exhibit L, tab 1, schedule 11; that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I have that.  I am waiting for you to take me to which of the specific references.

MR. BARRETT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I thought there was going to be a question.

MR. ALEXANDER:  No.

MR. BARRETT:  So if you see our response, we reference two statements by the Chair, the first one made in April 3rd, 2009 and one made later in June 2009, and these kick-started the process that ultimately led to the report.  And the second one is -- second statement by the Chair is actually referenced in the report.

In terms of the first statement by the Chair, the Chair, in discussing why the initiative was started, indicated that:
"The magnitude of current and future utility infrastructure investment has led me to consider how the OEB could create conditions which would foster timely investment by utilities in required infrastructure.'"


And certainly we're a utility.  We're looking at significant infrastructure investments that are necessary for the province of Ontario.  So we would see ourself captured under that description.

In the second statement by the Chair on June 1st, 2009, which is referenced in the infrastructure report at page 2, the quote is:
"The cost recovery initiatives will consider more innovative approaches to cost recovery for electricity infrastructure projects.  Availability of the mechanisms will be associated primarily with investments relating to the accommodation of renewable generation and smart grid development.  The cost recovery mechanisms developed through this initiative may also be available in relation to other types of projects in appropriate circumstances."

And we see our Darlington refurbishment as being one of those other types of projects.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just to be clear, both of these statements are before the report, because the report itself is dated January 15th, 2010; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  But the second one, the second statement by the Chair is included in the report at page 2.

MR. ALEXANDER:  No, I understand that.

And just going to the first statement, you would agree with me that when the Board or a Board Member uses the term "utilities" don't they usually refer to transmitters and distributors?

MR. BARRETT:  I can't speak for what the Board usually means.  I understand the word "utilities" in the Ontario context to mean rate-regulated companies, which would include OPG's regulated assets.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So your view is that you are included in that, even though common parlance -- even though it might -- even they it is usually referred to as "utilities" and –- sorry, it is usually referred to transmitters and distributors?

MR. BARRETT:  We certainly consider that part of our business to be akin to a rate-regulated utility.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Are those the only two references you can refer me to?

MR. BARRETT:  There are other references in the report that I can probably find with sufficient time.  I think they all turn on this same kind of parallel, but --


MR. ALEXANDER:  I will be clearer as to what I am looking for.

Can you refer me to any references after the report was issued that indicates that this report should also apply to electricity generators?

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think there is any reference in the report to the words "electricity generators" and I am not aware of any subsequent statements by the Board that have talked about this report.

But just to be clear -- and it may or may not be helpful -- we are -- we see our situation in respect of the Darlington refurbishment to be logically consistent with the things that, as we read the report, caused the Board to endorse CWIP in rate base for utility projects.

There, they acknowledged developments in other parts of the industry, in particular FERC and in the U.S.  They acknowledged that CWIP in rate base is a way of dealing with rate shock, and that is an issue that we have foursquare with respect to the Darlington refurbishment.  They recognize the potential impact on utility credit metrics, and that is an issue that we face.

So logically, the same kind of analysis that the Board brought to bear in this report, in terms of approving CWIP in rate base, should apply to our project.  That is how we see things.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand your position, and I think that is a matter for argument, at the end of the day.  But I think the answer to my question is no?

MR. BARRETT:  If you could just restate the question?

MR. ALEXANDER:  After the report was issued, the Board has not stated that the findings of the report should also apply to electricity generators?

MR. BARRETT:  As far as I know, they haven't stated that it should or should not.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You are aware that the Ontario Power Authority has signed over 400 electricity supply contracts with renewable and natural gas-fired power producers?

MR. BARRETT:  I know they have signed a lot.  I have no idea whether it is 300, 400 or 500.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But you wouldn't dispute that number, that it is over 400?

MR. BARRETT:  I have no reason to agree with it or disagree with it.  They certainly have signed many.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand that.

And these contracts don't allow renewable or gas-fired power producers to recover some of their costs from electricity consumers before their projects are completed and generating electricity; correct?  You would agree with that?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not very familiar with their contracts, so I can't give evidence on that one way or the other.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have no reason to dispute that, though?

MR. BARRETT:  I have no basis to agree with it or disagree with it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Assuming that is true, why does OPG believe that the Darlington refurbishment project should be given a special advantage by including CWIP, which the OPA has not awarded to any renewable or gas-fired power producer?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, none of those projects are rate-regulated projects, rate-regulated by this Board.

And so it is not an apples-to-apples comparison on any basis.

And certainly, if you look at the publicly-released information on pricing under those agreements and some of the terms, the pricing is quite advantageous and quite generous relative to the rates that we are proposing in this application.

So I don't think it is an apples-to-apples comparison.

The Board has said in EB-2009-0152 that in certain circumstances, CWIP in rate base is going to make sense, and it is just our position that Darlington, given that it is the largest capital project in the province, probably the longest term for execution of that project, is the poster child for CWIP in rate base.

MR. ALEXANDER:  However, to date neither OPG's -- OPG's board of directors, as we discussed earlier, has not approved -- you don't have -- let's try that again.

To date, however, you don't have authorization to actually approve with the actual rebuilding of Darlington nuclear station; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We have approval to proceed.  We have a series of gates that we have to move through.

But we have very high confidence that the project will proceed as we have laid it out.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I understand you have very high confidence, but you don't have actual authority to do the rebuild right now; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We do not have the final release for the execution of the project.  That happens, as we have discussed, in 2014.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And neither the Ministry of Energy nor the Board has approved proceeding with the actual rebuilding of the Darlington nuclear station; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We have an endorsement for proceeding with the project from the government.  And that is as evidenced in our letter.

And when you use the word "Board" in your question, I take it you're referring to the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Yes, I am.

MR. BARRETT:  We haven't received any approval from the Ontario Energy Board in respect to the project.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But you don't have approval to actually rebuild from the ministry or the Minister of Energy to proceed with the actual rebuilding of Darlington nuclear station; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We have approval to -- or an endorsement of our plan to proceed as we have laid it out.  So approval -- what we have laid out is a release strategy.  We have laid out the timing of the project.  We have provided information on the ultimate costs, the schedule.

And we see the letter from the minister, speaking on behalf of the province, as endorsing all of that.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But you don't have approval to actually rebuild Darlington; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We have not gone through the gate which would release the execution funds.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So you can't -- you don't have authorization to do it, then; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  We have not gone through the gate which would allow the execution of the final funds.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Has a North American energy regulator ever approved a CWIP proposal for an electricity generation project before it has determined that it is in the public interest to proceed with the construction or the refurbishment of the electricity generation project, to your knowledge?

MR. BARRETT:  To my knowledge, no.  And I can ask Mr. Luciani to speak later.

That said, we take the endorsement from the minister as an indication that the project is in the public interest.

I would say that --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, I just want to make sure I hear you, Mr. Barrett.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  As an indication?  Or as a... is that what you said?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, let me use better words.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you, but perhaps if you could start again to answer that question?

MR. BARRETT:  The minister, speaking on behalf of the project, has endorsed our plans for proceeding with the refurbishment of the Darlington plant.

We take that endorsement of our plans as an indication -- or a determination by the province that proceeding is in the public interest, because I think the logic is that the minister or the province would not be endorsing something they thought was contrary to the public interest.

I think, to be fair, that we would not say that public interest determination by the province is binding on the Board, but we believe that the Board should give it significant weight in its own determination of what is in the public interest.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think the latter part of your answer will be a subject for argument, but I think the first part of the answer was no.

And I believe the other panellist might have -- I don't know if he has anything to add to that.

MR. SMITH:  His answer was what it was, and that will be reflected on the record.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Would you like me to repeat the question?  Would that be helpful, or do you know what the question was?

MR. LUCIANI:  Please go ahead.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Has a North American energy regulator ever approved a CWIP proposal for an electricity generation project before it has determined that it is in the public interest to proceed with the construction or the refurbishment of the electricity generation project?

MR. LUCIANI:  I will frame your question to recent history.  When you say "ever", over the last 100 years of electricity regulation I am sure some things may have happened.  We had some CWIP decisions after the nuclear plant was already in place, and so on.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And to be clear, I am asking to your knowledge.

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  As far as these recent examples in these various states, my understanding is that, as a general matter, the commission has found proceeding with the plant to be a reasonable approach.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So it has not been before the finding of public interest; correct?  It would have been after that finding?

MR. LUCIANI:  As a general matter, I think they are usually done at the same time.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, panel.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Alexander.  We will take the afternoon break now for 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:11 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:33 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Crocker?

I think the parties are agreed that we will try to ensure we cover any questions that are remaining for Mr. Luciani between Mr. Millar and Mr. Crocker and the Panel, so that we can ensure he is completed today.  I gather this is acceptable to all of the parties?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, and very much appreciated.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No problem.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, I wonder whether we could mark as an exhibit, first of all, the compendium that we have prepared.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, this will be K13.6.  It is the AMPCO compendium of materials for panel 10.

EXHIBIT NO. K13.6:  AMPCO COMPENDIUM OF MATERIALS FOR PANEL 10.

MR. CROCKER:  I should say, Madam Chair, there isn't much left for us that others haven't already covered, as you can see from the reference material there.  So I don't expect to be very long.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  The first area I wanted to cover has already been covered by Mr. Warren.  That is the sort of broader American experience, Mr. Luciani.

I'm sorry for not introducing myself.  My name is David Crocker.  I am cross-examining on behalf of AMPCO.

The first area, as I say, I indicated Mr. Warren has already covered, but in the material that we have provided, the first 16 pages deal with a bill in the state of Missouri, where CWIP is prohibited.

And it displays the history of a bill which was intended to modify the existing bill to allow CWIP, which ultimately was abandoned.  And that is what this material covers.

I won't go into it in any detail.  I don't think it is necessary after Mr. Mr. Warren's cross-examination.  I just wondered whether you were familiar with it.

MR. LUCIANI:  I have seen reference to it, but not familiar with the intimate details of the proposed legislation.

MR. CROCKER:  You are aware, however, that the legislation was an attempt to modify circumstances in Missouri to allow CWIP, and it was unsuccessful?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I won't go into the Board's report, and I won't go into the factors.

Talking merely about smoothing, quickly, as you have indicated earlier, the Darlington refurbishment is in four stages; that's correct, isn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  Are you talking about with reference to four units coming in-service at different points in time?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, there are.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And on page 24 of the material that we have provided, 23 and 24, which is D2, tab 2, schedule 2, and we are talking about pages 6 and 7, just to make it clear, the smoothing that you are suggesting CWIP accomplishes would be the difference in the amounts of money shown between the dotted line and the solid line on these graphs; that's correct, isn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that is an illustration of it.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If you could turn to page 28 of the compendium, which is Exhibit L, tab 2, schedule 5, AMPCO Interrogatory 5, we asked you to do a net present value of the impact of CWIP on revenue requirements.

As I read table 1, with either of the two weighted average cost of capital figures provided, at either of the two capital costs provided, and these are your figures, your answer to our question, CWIP is not a benefit in any of the circumstances described there, is it?

MR. BARRETT:  I wouldn't agree that it is not a benefit.

I would accept that the net present value is higher in the circumstance that you have CWIP, and that is simply a function of the fact that under the current methodology, OPG would only earn its debt rate during the period of time when the project is -- the plants are being refurbished prior to coming in-service, rather than the weighted average cost of capital, which you would get under CWIP.

So if effect, what you're seeing here in terms of the difference in the net present values is really the subsidy that is being provided during the financing period by OPG.

MR. LUCIANI:  I will note, just in passing, in the U.S., of course, the AFUDC rate is generally based on the cost of capital itself.  It wouldn't be simply a debt rate, which would be -- that would be non-compensatory.

The cost of capital, the weighted average cost of capital is used for the AFUDC rate in the U.S., as a general matter.

MR. CROCKER:  I will live with those answers.  Thank you.

You had a discussion with Mr. Poch and with Mr. Shepherd about the benefits to the ratepayers of CWIP, and I just want to confirm that in your analysis of the benefits of CWIP, you didn't analyze the position of the individual ratepayers in that determination.

Did you?  In order to arrive at the benefits of CWIP, you didn't take into consideration the position of the ratepayer?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.

The significant benefit to ratepayers is the mitigation of rate shock that they will see down the road, so that I would see as a benefit to ratepayers that we have taken into account.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Well, that has been discussed, but in terms of the position of the ratepayer, the position of the ratepayer didn't factor in significantly, I suggest to you, in your analysis, did it?

MR. BARRETT:  I would disagree with that, sir, with respect.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, okay.  I didn't want to go to this specifically, but -- I didn't think we had to.

But if you look at page 29, we have excerpted a discussion from the Technical Conference that Mr. Shepherd had with you.  And Mr. Shepherd asks at line 6:

"So, then, the analysis in the 550 million number assumes that the ratepayers' cost of capital is zero; is that correct?"
"I don't think you can say that."
is your answer.  And Mr. Shepherd goes on:

"Okay.  It doesn't assume a cost of capital for ratepayers?

"Mr. Barrett:  I'm sorry?
"Mr. Shepherd:  It doesn't assume a cost of capital for ratepayers?
"Mr. Barrett:  That's not the way the question is focussed.  The question is focussed on cash flow of OPG.
"Mr. Shepherd:  Thank you."

I'm suggesting that that exchange and that your answer to Mr. Poch and to Mr. Shepherd was that the position of the ratepayer, with respect to the ratepayers' cost of capital, for instance, and whether their cost of capital is higher, would be higher, those issues weren't factored into your analysis?

MR. BARRETT:  We did not factor into our analysis the costs of capital for ratepayers.  We don't know what that is, to be honest with you.

That starts to engage discussions like the use of social discount rates, which I know the OPA has advanced in its IPSP and has been the subject of some discussion in Hydro One proceedings, and I know the Board has basically indicated it's agnostic about the use of social discount rates.

But we are not using social discount rates in our analysis.  We simply used OPG's cost of capital in respect of the NPVs.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That is the answer to my question.  Thank you.

If you could turn to page 32 of the compendium, this is a National Regulatory Research Institute report that Mr. Luciani footnotes in his report, and it is referred to in OPG's material.

If you could flip over the page, to page 33, the last three lines before the line with the footnote, the last three lines on the page say:
"Because pre-approvals reduce utility risk, commissions awarding some form of pre-approval cost recovery should consider whether a corresponding reduction in the utility's authorized return on equity is appropriate."


Are you asking for a reduced return on equity if your CWIP proposal is approved?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  My understanding is the evidence of Mrs. McShane, who is our cost of capital expert, indicated that refurbishment, in her view, was an incremental risk, and the approval of CWIP would be a way of addressing that incremental risk.  And we agree with her assessment of the situation.

MR. CROCKER:  Your answer to the question was "no" to begin with.

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, if I wasn't clear, no, are we seeking a reduction in ROE, nor are we seeking an increase in respect of the Darlington refurbishment project, just to be clear.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And the reason why it makes sense to -- I suggest to you, to consider asking for a reduced return on equity is that the risk, the theoretic risk, of the project is diminished if CWIP is approved.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly during the refurbishment and definition phase, the company's financial metrics will be better, so the financial risk will be reduced.  But there is other risks that are attendant to a refurbishment project, particularly one of this size and scale.

MR. CROCKER:  If you were given an alternative, CWIP or a reduced return on equity, which would you rather?

MR. BARRETT:  What size of reduction of ROE are we talking about?  Obviously, the company would -- if it had to choose between door A and door B, it would take the one that put itself in the best position.  But I don't think that is the situation here.  Certainly that is not the company's proposal.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have nothing further.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I will ask questions that may require a response from Mr. Luciani first, and then I will proceed with the rest of my cross.  If I get carried away in the excitement of CWIP cross and we are getting close to 4:30, please do interrupt me so the panel may ask any questions they have of Mr. Luciani, and he may leave.

I have put together a very brief booklet of documents for this cross-examination.  These are -- the documents in this booklet are not on the record, although most of them are referenced in the record or will be very familiar to at least Mr. Barrett, if not Mr. Luciani.

I propose we call that Exhibit K13.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.7:  BOARD STAFF BOOKLET OF DOCUMENT FOR CROSS-EXAMINATION OF OPG PANEL 10.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to start with some questions relating to Mr. Luciani's report, and perhaps if I could ask the panel -- I'm sorry, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  I neglected to introduce myself.

If I could ask you to turn to page 12 of your report?  And if you look under 3.4.2, there is a section entitled, "Risks of Construction".  It reads:
"Recovery of CWIP in rates is sometimes said to transfer risk from the utility to its customers."

Then if you skip down a sentence, it states:
"This argument perhaps has more validity if regulatory agencies are not reviewing utility investment plans prior to construction.  With such reviews in place, the utility is unlikely to proceed with construction without regulatory agency guidance.  This process mitigates the risk that the utility is planning construction of an asset that the customers may not want or is not expected to be economic."

Do you see that?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, Mr. Barrett, or, Mr. Luciani, if you wish to answer, I am not sure if it is in direct response to that, but OPG is proposing certain reporting with relation to the Darlington refurbishment; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I am looking at D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 9.  I don't know if you need to turn it up, but maybe you can confirm for me that OPG plans possibly two forms of reporting.  The first would be through the biannual rates cases; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  We would expect that there would be a significant amount of information filed in that proceeding.

MR. MILLAR:  Then I understand in alternating years you would be providing an annual monitoring report, or you would propose to do that?

MR. BARRETT:  If the Board found that acceptable and helpful.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is something you would be willing to produce?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  What would be in that report?

MR. BARRETT:  We haven't specified that.  It really would be a function of the Board's needs in respect of its monitoring activities.  I think what we have indicated in the evidence is the best way to proceed is to have -- if the Board would like that kind of a report, to have subsequent discussion with Board Staff about the timing and specifics of the report.

MR. MILLAR:  So not necessarily something ordered through this proceeding?

MR. BARRETT:  I think it would be difficult to order the specifics.  Certainly the Board could -- it would be -- my advice to the Board order, if it wanted a monitor report, that it order a monitoring report and give general guidance in terms of the stuff in there, and leave it to subsequent discussions to refine that.

I think our general position would be that the report, it would be better if the report draws on information that we naturally collect as part of our own management of the project, rather than creating information that we may or may not use for business purposes.  There might be some efficiencies, again, through that.

MR. MILLAR:  If we were -- if someone were to suggest that the reporting should include more or less the level of detail of information you would provide in your rate cases, would you have a view on that?  Is that too much, or would you be happy to provide that?

MR. BARRETT:  You're not talking about six volumes of material?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  No.  Specifically with relation to the Darlington project, of course.

MR. BARRETT:  I don't think we would have an objection, again, subject to working out the details and timing.

MR. MILLAR:  Of course.  That's fair enough.  Thank you.

Now, Mr. Barrett, this has been gone over fairly thoroughly, but of course you are not seeking the Board's approval for the Darlington refurbishment; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  No.  As I have indicated, I am not sure how we would do that or if we could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  We may get to that in a moment.  I have taken my cross a little bit out of order to accommodate Mr. Luciani.

MR. BARRETT:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  But how will reporting assist the Board if the Board isn't being called upon to approve anything?  What will reporting do?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, the Board is being called upon to approve things.  They are being called upon to set payment amounts that reflect the costs related to the project.

Those are the CWIP costs in one bucket, and the other things which are shown in chart 1 at the beginning of -- at Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3 of 17.

MR. MILLAR:  The vast bulk of the costs come at the end of the process, is that fair, the capital costs for the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  There was capital throughout the definition and execution phase.

I would agree I think there is probably more capital in the execution phase than in the definition phase.  So it is back-end loaded in that respect.

MR. MILLAR:  But CWIP aside, I assume you won't be seeking to close those amounts into rate base until the project is up and running?

MR. BARRETT:  Setting aside CWIP?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  If the Board decides that CWIP is not appropriate in this circumstance and that we should use the traditional methodology, then the capital costs won't come into the revenue requirement until the asset comes into service.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, maybe I can simplify this.  From your point of view, is the reporting only useful to the Board in the context of considering CWIP and the amounts it will be closing to rates in any given year?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that is where it is most useful.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Luciani, to go back to your report, the passage I just read you, you state that the fear of a transfer of risk from utilities to customers is somewhat alleviated with proper reporting.  That is what I just read to you?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you state, in particular, and I am reading the same sentence:
"This argument perhaps has more validity if regulatory agencies are not reviewing utility investment plans prior to construction."


From what you have heard here today, OPG isn't seeking approval for the project itself; is that right?  Well, we know that, because he has been asked that about 100 times.  But how does this fit in with what you have written here?

MR. LUCIANI:  My perspective, of course, is from the U.S. perspective, where the utility commission generally is one actor dealing with the investor-owned utility, and so we will review those plans, and so on.

All the nuances of Ontario, it is somewhat different, as I understand it, with the OPA's involvement and the -- and so on.

So my understanding, in listening to Mr. Barrett, is the essence of a review has taken place and will take place on an ongoing basis.

My perspective here was more from the U.S. perspective, where it is one regulatory -- the regulatory commission doing all of that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  To be clear, I just want to explore the extent to which we can discount the idea that risk is being transferred from utility to customers, and I just want to look at the reasons you have given where a regulatory oversight may alleviate that concern.

MR. LUCIANI:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at the next sentence, you state:

"With such reviews in place, the utility is unlikely to proceed with construction without regulatory agency guidance."

In this case, OPG is not seeking a review or agency guidance, are they?

MR. LUCIANI:  From the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. MILLAR:  From the Ontario Energy Board.

MR. LUCIANI:  I think, as Mr. Barrett explained, that they are asking for a -- approval of various factors having to do with the recovery of the investment.

MR. MILLAR:  CWIP, and then there is a few --


MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- what I would characterize as relatively minor OM&A costs in the definition phase.  But not for the refurbishment itself?

MR. BARRETT:  Sorry, if I could just interject, there are a number of other cost consequences that flow from proceeding with the Darlington project beyond CWIP and the related O&M costs.

And I think we have gone over this, but there are changes to ARO, there are changes to depreciation, there are changes to tax, there are changes to Bruce.

So I just don't want to leave you with the mistaken impression there is just two cost elements that the Board has to turn its mind to.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  But just as there are some elements that the Board is being asked to turn its mind to, there are many that the Board is not being asked to turn its mind to.

You are not seeking approval from this Board to go ahead with the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So in that context, Mr. Luciani, does the paragraph I have just read to you does that apply here to this situation with OPG?

MR. LUCIANI:  And again, not knowing all of the nuances of how projects are approved in Ontario, I think it does apply.  To my knowledge, there was a case made, and it was approved by the relevant governing body for that type of decision.

That's my inference from what Mr. Barrett has been explaining.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I guess the record will say what it says.  And thank you for your answer.

I would like to ask a few questions.  I will be referring to Mr. Luciani's report.  I think my questions are more for Mr. Barrett, but I will ask this at the front end, so Mr. Luciani can chime in if he wishes.

Some questions about the specific capital costs you are seeking to recover through CWIP.

As we have already heard, Mr. Barrett, you are seeking to recover the full cost of capital on CWIP; is that right?  Your weighted average cost of capital?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  So debt and ROE?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  In Mr. Luciani's report, at page 8, under 2.3:  "Canada" -- I think he is discussing some examples in other proceedings -- he says there's been recent activity regarding the inclusion of CWIP in rate base in two Canadian provinces.

And then he -- you see Ontario, and he references the Hydro One decision.  You are familiar with that decision?  Mr. Barrett?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Luciani obviously is as well, since it is in his report.  I think everyone here knows what that case is about, so I don't intend to go over the details.

But first of all, my understanding is that Hydro One is only recovering its debt costs from the CWIP in this case; is that correct?

MR. BARRETT:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  And of course, Hydro One was asked, for example, in an interrogatory from -- was it AMPCO –-regardless, you were asked if you considered any other regulatory treatments or any other cost of capital parameters you might consider.

Your answer was no, but I take it it is still your position you should recover your full cost of capital, as opposed to just debt?

MR. BARRETT:  Consistent with the Board's report in EB-2009-0152.

MR. LUCIANI:  And again, I will note from a U.S. perspective, an AFUDC rate with a carry of only the debt interest is non-compensatory, and it is not done in the U.S., as a general matter.

MR. MILLAR:  Would you agree with me, obviously, the Board will look at precedents from all jurisdictions, but I would suspect it would look at its own jurisprudence before it would look abroad?

MR. LUCIANI:  It might.  It might.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I would also put to you Hydro One -- to some extent, we are suggesting that the Board might consider only applying debt charges to CWIP, but at the same time, Hydro One is sort of a unique case.  And I don't know if you know all of the details, but let me ask you a couple of questions.

I understand that Hydro One did not capitalize or put into rate base CWIP during the actual construction of the transmission line.  Does that match your understanding?

MR. BARRETT:  You are referring to the Niagara line?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That option wasn't available to them, as far as I understand it.

MR. MILLAR:  Because it was pre the report?

MR. BARRETT:  Yeah.  It wasn't consistent with the methodology that the Board was employing at that time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It was only when these difficulties with some underlying land claim issues arose that Hydro One sought this treatment, and was granted this treatment?

MR. BARRETT:  That's my understanding.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Madam Chair, if it assists, I think those are all of the questions that I have for Mr. Luciani.  That being said, he may have some input on some additional questions I have, so I would propose to continue.

If we are getting close to 4:30, you can cut me off and ask any questions you have of Mr. Luciani.  Or would you prefer to ask right now?

[Board Panel confer]

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, I have some questions for Mr. Luciani, so maybe I will ask those now.  And that way we can ensure that we will be able to release him today.

And then we will take up your questions again, and then we will ensure, Mr. Smith, that you have an opportunity to ask him any questions you might have.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that okay?
Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  So Mr. Luciani, I am primarily interested in your understanding of the circumstances that accompanied the various examples in the U.S., where inclusion of CWIP in rate base was allowed.

And you set out some of the examples.  Can you describe or -- describe for me the context in which those findings have been made?  Have they been made in the context of –- well, here we may call them leave-to-construct proceedings, but there, are they sort of Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity?  Can you give us a bit more about the overall context in which those approvals have been given?

MR. LUCIANI:  They do vary from state to state, and of course, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission is allowed 50 percent of CWIP in rate base on a long-standing basis.

So it is a little bit different.  But to speak about the states, as a general matter, sometimes the legislation has set up some sort of procedure, some sort of annual review that may take place, and in that initial review, generally you will have a look at the reasonableness of the expenditures, as well as the idea of putting CWIP in rate base.

So usually in that first set, and it can be the Certificate of Necessity and Convenience.

There's the step in which the reasonableness of the project is reviewed, and simultaneously dealing with the CWIP issue.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So maybe taking that piece by piece, so FERC, which as you have explained, on a long-standing basis has allowed 50 percent of CWIP in rate base, that is in the context of what type of approvals or applications?

MR. LUCIANI:  Typically -- and again, the FERC has allowed 100 percent on certain types of investment recently, more recently, and I cite a number of examples.  Typically, you are talking there about transmission investment.

And transmission investment in the U.S., FERC has jurisdiction over the rates.  The states have jurisdiction over the siting.  So the FERC would not be doing a siting approval, the actual siting of a transmission line.

They are really dealing with the proposed rate, how to deal with the rate structuring and recovery of the asset.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And in that context, when they have -- perhaps let's consider the most recent examples where they have allowed all of CWIP in rate base.  Has it been done in the context of a finding that the entire project -- should it be completed in the way that it is included in the application is going to flow through to rates?

In other words, are they approving for rate recovery purposes the entirety of the project?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes, subject obviously to ongoing construction review, and so on, of the project.

MS. CHAPLIN:  With, I guess, the caveat that should the costs be greater, that those incremental costs may be subject to subsequent review?

MR. LUCIANI:  They would have to be justified, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  But, otherwise, it is being approved?  There is a coincident approval of the project for eventual treatment in rates and approval of the CWIP to go into rates?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  The effective rate treatment is effectively approved by the FERC.  Again, with transmission, there is the siting kind of piece that would take place at the state regulatory body.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So as you have described it, the ratemaking process and the consideration of the project, would it be a comparable type of review that is generally going on for state-level consideration for state projects, for the generation projects that you have presented as examples?

MR. LUCIANI:  For the FERC, I would think more typically they would leave it to the states for the full justification of the project, and so on.

I think from the FERC's perspective, they would deal more that the ratemaking for this project is appropriate.  And particularly when they move to incentive ratemaking and additional ROE adders and 100 percent of CWIP in rates, they're talking more about the risk of the project being above the average, and so on.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And then for the examples
where -- so we have covered the FERC side.

So the state examples, and you have your table at page 4 of your report, and then you describe some of the specific examples.  Are the processes that have been involved there also been sort of coincident approvals of CWIP treatment and also for rate recovery for the project as a whole?

MR. LUCIANI:  The project as a whole might not yet come to full fruition, because usually these projects are in the early stage.

So, for example, maybe it would be helpful to look at what is happening in Florida.  There is a paragraph on page 5, the page after table 1, beginning -- it is a paragraph beginning:
"In November 2008, the Florida PSC completed its first annual review of nuclear projects under the nuclear cost recovery process..."


That had been set up.  They reviewed two projects, one having to deal with an uprate to existing capacity and others dealing with new nuclear units.  They approved a recovery of site selection costs, preconstruction costs, carrying charges on the construction costs, i.e., CWIP in rate base, and a determination of the prudence was deferred until the next nuclear cost recovery cycle.

So I look at it as they were reviewing the notion that it was an economic investment, given the facts in existence at the time of the review, and also dealing with the rate treatment for the monies to be expended here in the near term.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Perhaps you could help me with that, because I am trying to understand that in the context of what appears a couple of paragraphs up, the paragraph that begins at the bottom of page 4, where it says:
"Under the regulations adopted in Florida, once a utility obtains an affirmative need determination for a nuclear power plant project..."


Then it continues on.  So on the face of it, I was trying to reconcile this requirement that there be a finding of need with what appears to be the staged approach that is described in the next paragraph.

What am I missing that ties those two together?

MR. LUCIANI:  Yes.  I think under the legislation in Florida, there was a proceeding in which they talked about the need for the facility, whether it was economic to do so, and then these subsequent proceedings, although, you know, it may well be that they were exactly simultaneous.  I would have to look back to see.  There was dealing with the cost recovery process for the expenditures spent thus far.

During that cost recovery process, I believe there was a review of the reasonableness of the expenditures predicted relative to the original assessment.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  So, Mr. Millar, if you want to continue, and then we will ensure that there is a few minutes before 4:30.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I am not sure if Mr. Smith had any re-examination for this witness.  If so, would you like to do that now or wait until just before 4:30?

MR. SMITH:  I think my preference would be to wait till 4:30 and see if I can roll it all in.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Barrett, I have a few questions following up on a discussion you had both with Mr. Alexander and, to a lesser extent, Mr. Shepherd, I think.  These relate to the Board report that we have been referencing.

Indeed, Mr. Alexander brought a bunch of copies of it, but I don't think he ever actually filed it, so I would propose to do that.  And this is the report of the Board in EB-2009-0152, and it will be K13.8.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.8:  REPORT OF THE BOARD IN          EB-2009-0152.

MR. MILLAR:  Does the panel have copies of that, both the witness panel and the Board Panel?

MR. BARRETT:  We have copies of the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I am just looking to ask a few questions about in what context and how exactly the report applies to OPG.

I understand obviously it is the company's position that it does, and you reference a number of documents in support of that position.

If you could look at page 1 of Staff's booklets of documents, this is the statement from the Chair dated April 3rd.  Do you have that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, indeed, you quote from this letter in your application.  The second paragraph appears in, I think it is, D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 2.

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, the re line to this letter says "Regulatory framework for approval of investment in infrastructure by electricity transmitters and distributors."  Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Is OPG mentioned in this letter?

MR. BARRETT:  We believe that parts of it apply to us, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  My question is:  Is OPG mentioned in this letter?

MR. BARRETT:  The name "OPG" does not appear in the letter.

MR. MILLAR:  Does "electricity generation" appear in the letter?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And so Mr. Battista points out renewable distributed electricity generation is mentioned, but I suppose I should be more clear.  Is nuclear generation mentioned or hydro?

MR. BARRETT:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  I would be remiss if I didn't ask this.  You stated parts of this letter you believe apply to OPG.  What parts are those?

MR. BARRETT:  References to infrastructure investment and the references to utilities, generally.

MR. MILLAR:  So the issues he is identifying, in your view, are issues that are common -- that are also issues for OPG; is that fair?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If you could flip to page 3 of Staff's booklet, this is a subsequent statement from the Chair which I think is referenced, though not quoted, in your evidence, and you were discussing it earlier, I think, with Mr. Alexander.

You are familiar with this letter?

MR. BARRETT:  I saw it when it came out.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The first paragraph references the April 3rd letter.  It says:
"On April 3rd, I issued a statement confirming the Board's commitment to creating conditions that will foster timely and appropriate investment in electricity distribution and transmission infrastructure while ensuring that the interests of ratepayers continue to be protected."

Do you see that?

MR. BARRETT:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  Is OPG mentioned in this letter?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I don't see it.

MR. MILLAR:  And as you have discussed with others, following these letters, the Board issued the report which I filed.  But you are aware that prior to the issuance of the report, there was a Board Staff discussion paper.  Are you aware of that?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  And that stakeholders were invited to make comments on that paper?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes, I think that is right.

MR. MILLAR:  And OPG did make comments on the Staff paper?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if I understand what you stated, it was you asked that the Board specify or at least consider that the report should apply equally to OPG for nuclear generation projects at a high level.  Is that more or less what you said to the Board?

MR. BARRETT:  I wouldn't be surprised if that is what we said.  I don't have the submission with me, and I haven't read it in some time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is that inconsistent with your recollection?

MR. BARRETT:  I honestly don't recollect the submission, but I wouldn't be surprised if we made a submission along those lines.

Certainly, that would be the company's position.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

The report itself -- I don't want to retread ground that Mr. Alexander had -- but if I could take you to
page –- I guess it is page 2.  I was looking for references to industries other than transmission and distribution.

And if you look in the introduction, the second sentence, it says:

"On June 1st in a second statement, the Chair advised that the development of three initiatives, one of which is to consider more innovative approaches to cost recovery, primarily in relation to infrastructure investments relating to the accommodation of renewable generation and smart grid development, but potentially also applicable in relation to other types of projects in appropriate circumstances..."

And can I take it that is at least one of the things that OPG is relying on to support its position that this report should apply to it?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  That's one of the references.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there other -- to the extent you haven't already -- Mr. Alexander went over this with you, so I won't ask you to go through other things.

Can we agree, Mr. Barrett, that whether the report applies to OPG on its face, or if, as some may argue, it is more an analogous situation, as opposed to being strictly applicable, would it be OPG's view that, to the extent it seeks specific treatment under this report, it should be bound by the terms of that report?

MR. BARRETT:  I think that would be for the Board to determine.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, let me put it another way.  In your view, your CWIP proposal is consistent with the report?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And you wouldn't -–

MR. BARRETT:  For example --


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.

MR. BARRETT:  I would say for example in the report we saw that the Board did not believe it was appropriate to start recovering depreciation until the asset went into service, and our proposal is consistent with that.

MR. MILLAR:  You are not seeking treatment any different than what would be consistent with this report, at least in the company's view?

MR. BARRETT:  As I understand the report.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 14, please?  The first complete paragraph there, I will just read it.  It states:

"The Board's approach to alternative mechanisms should not be viewed, as one stakeholder commented, as a significant departure from many of the well-established and fundamental principles of utility regulation.  Utilities will still be expected to demonstrate that the investment is needed, that it is prudent, and that it is economically feasible.  Rate impacts will also be assessed."

You are not seeking a prudence review here, are you?

MR. BARRETT:  There was an earlier discussion of prudence review, and we are certainly expecting that the Board would turn its mind to whether or not our planned project and the costs attendant to it are just and reasonable, and you can potentially say that is synonymous with prudence.

Again, the way I look at the words "prudence review" is taken from an Enbridge decision, where it defined prudence reviews as being a retrospective inquiry into whether or not a project had been prudently managed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the prudence review, you see is by and large the after-the-fact prudence review, when these assets close to rate base?  Or are you talking about this particular CWIP proposal?

MR. BARRETT:  I think there are two aspects to it.

As I think I tried to explain earlier, the Board has to be satisfied for the test period that our costs are just and reasonable, that what we're doing is prudent, in order to incorporate either CWIP or the other attendant costs impacts into payment amounts that it establishes.

We certainly expect that when assets close into rate base, that it would be to the Board to review whether or not there was a proper execution of the project, and conduct a prudence review if they thought that was necessary.  That could also take place in the context of a disposition from the capacity refurbishment variance account, where we would have accumulated differences between our plans and the actual expenditures during the refurbishment period.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, how can the Board assess the prudence of the CWIP amounts without assessing the prudence of the underlying project?

MR. BARRETT:  I am not saying that they wouldn't assess the underlying prudence of the project.  So I am obviously not being clear.

In terms of the test period, we have put forward a plan, in terms of work.  We put forward budgets in terms of how we intend to spend money.  We have explained our CWIP proposal.  And we have put forward the impacts on depreciation ARO and all of the other associated tax and Bruce lease impacts that flow from proceeding with the project.  We are expecting the Board to turn their mind to those impacts and assess whether or not they're just and reasonable and should be part of our payment amounts.

Down the road, when we're completed work and we are looking back in time, there will likely be variances between our forecast budgets and our actuals.  And it would not be unreasonable for the Board to inquire into those differences and satisfy itself whether they're a good reason for those variances.

And that, to me, that kind of retrospective backward-looking review is what I call a prudence review, and I think that is consistent with the way the Board defined it in an Enbridge case, which is RP-2001-0032, and the reference there is at page 60.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is helpful. With regard to this after-the-fact prudence review, first, I understand that will probably take place when the assets become used and useful, which is sometime around 2020.  I know there is a phased approach, but the closing to rate base will occur sometime around 2020; is that right?

MR. BARRETT:  Yes.  I think, as I said, I think it could happen also at the time we bring forward the balances and the capacity refurbishment variance account for disposition.

The Board, before disposing of those balances, would have to be satisfied that the things that gave rise to those variances were prudent.  So there will be at least the review of those, the variance account balances, reviewed by the Board of how we're doing on the project during that period.

MR. MILLAR:  And those will come forward before the projects enter service?

MR. BARRETT:  They will come forward as part of our regular two-year cycle, where we will be bringing forward the balances for disposition.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But let's look forward.

First, was I right when I said that the projects will come in -- the refurbished reactors will come into service -- I think it is on a three- or four-year schedule -- around 2019, 2020?  The specific date isn't important, but something like that?

MR. BARRETT:  It is over the 2019 to 2024 period.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  At that time, when the particular units actually enter service, I understand you would seek to close to rate base the bulk of the amounts for those projects?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, under CWIP, a lot of that capital would already be in rate base pursuant to the CWIP proposal, but we would certainly close the residual amount, and then seek approval to begin depreciating that asset in the normal course.

MR. MILLAR:  When you come forward -- and I want to understand how this will work when it happens.

So the CWIP, there will be the CWIP amounts that are already in rate base, if your proposal is accepted, and then presumably there will be some other costs at the tail end of the project that would close.

And when the Board does a prudence review of that, in your mind, would it be open to the Board at that point to decide:  You know what?  We're now going to do our prudence review.  We look at all -- everything you had before you back in 2011, 2010, 2012.  You should never have done this project, and we are not going to approve it and we are not going to allow these amounts into rate base?

Obviously, the company would never support such a view, but would it be open to the Board to make a decision at that time?  Would that be within the Board's powers?

MR. SMITH:  Well, the question of whether or not it is within the Board's powers or not, I think is properly a question for argument, but the witness can give his understanding of what the Board's jurisdiction is.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. BARRETT:  As I said before, I think that would be -- that would be significantly inconsistent with what I think would have gone on before, because, as you can appreciate, we are here today asking for the recovery of certain dollars that flow from proceeding with the project.

And I don't know how the Board could put those dollars into the payment amounts without at least turning its mind to a question of whether or not what we're doing is reasonable.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's a very good point, so let me put it another way.

Should the Board in this proceeding be telling you if they think the Darlington refurbishment is a good idea?  Are you asking the Board to do that?

MR. BARRETT:  That would be helpful.  We certainly haven't asked for approval, but I think there is a linkage between the costs that we have proposed or we have sought for approval, and the underlying business dynamics, the underlying business project.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I would like to be very clear on this, because I think it is an important point.

You are not seeking approval from this Board to do the Darlington refurbishment project; correct?

MR. BARRETT:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  However, your view in 2020, it will not be open to the Board at that time to say, You should never have done the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  If in the subsequent years the Board has approved payment amounts that include the cost consequences for all of the stuff that we have done, including CWIP in rate base, it would be a significant reversal, in my mind, and greatly unfair to the company at that point.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't disagree with that.  You would be in a terrible bind in the Board were to find in 2020 these are imprudent amounts.  So I guess the follow-up question is:  In your mind, an approval of CWIP is an approval of the prudency of the Darlington refurbishment?

MR. BARRETT:  Certainly in respect of the capital that we are proposing to spend in the test period, I don't see how you could not have that linkage.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But, as you have said, once you put that capital in, it would be very difficult for the Board, when the -- when the projects are used and useful to claw that amount back?

MR. BARRETT:  That wasn't the point I was making.

What I was trying to explain is we are here for 2011-2012, and there are certain capital expenditures that we forecast in respect of the project, and the CWIP is the carry on that capital.

The Board could approve that CWIP for 2011-2012, and when we came forward for 2013 and 2014 they could take a different view.  They could say, We have reconsidered the CWIP notion and we are not going to allow it any further.

That would be open to them, in my mind.

MR. SMITH:  I don't know whether this will help or not, and if people don't want this from me, that's fine, but my -- I expect that OPG's position in argument, so that everyone is perfectly clear on the point, is, for the test period, the company fully expects the Board will review, whether you call it reasonable or prudent, expenditures relating to the capital and the resulting CWIP for the test period.  And obviously there will be stages as this project develops.

So, yes, I expect it would be the company's position at the end of the day, as a matter of law, that the Board could not reverse itself, having taken those steps throughout the period.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I realize we're almost at 4:30.  I am not going to finish all of my questions for this panel, but my final question today is:  It will be OPG's view that if CWIP is approved, the Darlington refurbishment is approved by the Board?

MR. BARRETT:  No, I don't think we would go that far.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We are almost at 4:30.  I think we will have to cut it off, and maybe we will continue this discussion on Monday morning.

MR. SMITH:  I don't have any re-examination, so I am happy for you to continue until 4:30 with Mr. Luciani.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think we will break now, because I believe the panel, we will also have some questions, and I don't think we will be able to finish close enough to 4:30.  So I am sure Mr. Barrett doesn't object to returning.

Mr. Luciani --


MR. SMITH:  He's on the next panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I know.  Mr. Luciani is excused with the Board's thanks.

MR. LUCIANI:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We will rise now until 9 o'clock on Monday morning.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. BARRETT:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:27 p.m.
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